
Worcestershire County Council 

Agenda

Planning and Regulatory 
Committee

Tuesday, 26 March 2019, 10.00 am
County Hall, Worcester

Notes:
Councillors are advised that letters of representation received from local residents in respect 
of the planning applications on this agenda will be available for inspection in the Member 
Support Unit 3 days before the Committee and in the meeting room from 9.30am on the day of 
the meeting

Planning Officers are available for up to 30 minutes prior to the start of the meeting to enable 
Councillors and the public to ask questions about the applications to be considered.  This is 
not a part of the meeting itself but is an informal opportunity for anyone present on the day to 
clarify factual details about the applications, examine background documents and view plans 
that are on display

This document can be provided in alternative formats such as Large Print, an audio recording 
or Braille; it can also be emailed as a Microsoft Word attachment. Please contact Democratic 

Services on telephone number 01905 846621 or by emailing 
democraticservices@worcestershire.gov.uk 

Find out more online:
www.worcestershire.gov.uk



DISCLOSING INTERESTS

There are now 2 types of interests:
'Disclosable pecuniary interests' and 'other disclosable interests'

WHAT IS A 'DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST' (DPI)?

 Any employment, office, trade or vocation carried on for profit or gain 
 Sponsorship by a 3rd party of your member or election expenses
 Any contract for goods, services or works between the Council and you, a firm where 

you are a partner/director, or company in which you hold shares
 Interests in land in Worcestershire (including licence to occupy for a month or longer)
 Shares etc (with either a total nominal value above £25,000 or 1% of the total issued 

share capital) in companies with a place of business or land in Worcestershire.

      NB Your DPIs include the interests of your spouse/partner as well as you

WHAT MUST I DO WITH A DPI?
 Register it within 28 days and 
 Declare it where you have a DPI in a matter at a particular meeting 

- you must not participate and you must withdraw.
      NB It is a criminal offence to participate in matters in which you have a DPI

WHAT ABOUT 'OTHER DISCLOSABLE INTERESTS'?
 No need to register them but
 You must declare them at a particular meeting where:

 You/your family/person or body with whom you are associated have 
a pecuniary interest in or close connection with the matter under discussion.

WHAT ABOUT MEMBERSHIP OF ANOTHER AUTHORITY OR PUBLIC BODY?
You will not normally even need to declare this as an interest. The only exception is where the 
conflict of interest is so significant it is seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public 
interest.

DO I HAVE TO WITHDRAW IF I HAVE A DISCLOSABLE INTEREST WHICH ISN'T A DPI?
Not normally. You must withdraw only if it:

 affects your pecuniary interests OR 
relates to a planning or regulatory matter

 AND it is seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.

DON'T FORGET
 If you have a disclosable interest at a meeting you must disclose both its existence 

and nature – 'as noted/recorded' is insufficient   
 Declarations must relate to specific business on the agenda 

- General scattergun declarations are not needed and achieve little
 Breaches of most of the DPI provisions are now criminal offences which may be 

referred to the police which can on conviction by a court lead to fines up to £5,000 
and disqualification up to 5 years

  Formal dispensation in respect of interests can be sought in appropriate cases.

Simon Mallinson Head of Legal and Democratic Services July 2012       WCC/SPM summary/f



Agenda produced and published by Simon Mallinson, Head of Legal and Democratic Services, County Hall, 
Spetchley Road, Worcester WR5 2NP

To obtain further information or a copy of this agenda, contact Simon Lewis, Committee Officer.  Telephone 
Worcester (01905) (846621) 
email: slewis@worcestershire.gov.uk

All the above reports and supporting information can be accessed via the Council’s website 

Date of Issue: Friday, 15 March 2019

Planning and Regulatory Committee
Tuesday, 26 March 2019, 10.00 am, County Hall, Worcester

Councillors: Mr R C Adams (Chairman), Ms P Agar, Mr R M Bennett, 
Mr G R Brookes, Mr P Denham, Mr A Fry, Mr I D Hardiman, 
Mr P B Harrison, Mrs A T Hingley, Dr C Hotham, Mr J A D O'Donnell, 
Mrs J A Potter, Prof J W Raine, Mr C Rogers and Mr P A Tuthill

Agenda

Item No Subject Page No

1 Named Substitutes

2 Apologies/Declarations of Interest

3 Public Participation
The Council has put in place arrangements which usually allow one 
speaker each on behalf of objectors, the applicant and supporters of 
applications to address the Committee.  Speakers are chosen from 
those who have made written representations and expressed a desire to 
speak at the time an application is advertised.  Where there are 
speakers, presentations are made as part of the consideration of each 
application.

4 Confirmation of Minutes
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 4 December 2018. 
(previously circulated – pink pages)

5 Planning application made under Section 73 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to vary condition 3 of 
Planning Permission Reference: 10/000032/CM (Planning 
Inspectorate Ref: APP/E1855/V/11/2153273) (as amended) to 
increase throughput of the Envirecover Energy from Waste (EFW) 
Facility from 200,000 to 230,000 tonnes per annum at Mercia 
Envirecover, Plot H600, Oak Drive, Hartlebury Trading Estate, 
Hartlebury, Worcestershire

1 - 38

6 Proposed Pinvin Junction Highway Improvements at Pinvin 
Junction (Junction between A44, A4104 and B4082), Pinvin, near 
Pershore, Worcestershire

39 - 68

mailto:slewis@worcestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM 5
 

Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
26 MARCH 2019

PLANNING APPLICATION MADE UNDER SECTION 73 OF 
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (AS 
AMENDED) TO VARY CONDITION 3 OF PLANNING 
PERMISSION REFERENCE: 10/000032/CM (PLANNING 
INSPECTORATE REF: APP/E1855/V/11/2153273) (AS 
AMENDED) TO INCREASE THE THROUGHPUT OF THE 
ENVIRECOVER ENERGY FROM WASTE (EFW) FACILITY 
FROM 200,000 TO 230,000 TONNES PER ANNUM AT 
MERCIA ENVIRECOVER, PLOT H600, OAK DRIVE, 
HARTLEBURY TRADING ESTATE, HARTLEBURY, 
WORCESTERSHIRE

Applicant
Mercia Waste Management

Local Member
Mr R P Tomlinson DL

Purpose of Report

1. To consider a County Matter planning application made under Section 73 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to vary condition 3 of 
planning permission reference: 10/000032/CM (as amended) to increase the 
throughput of the EnviRecover Energy from Waste (EfW) Facility from 200,000 to 
230,000 tonnes per annum at Mercia EnviRecover, Plot H600, Oak Drive, 
Hartlebury Trading Estate, Hartlebury, Worcestershire.

Background

2. Mercia Waste Management was awarded a 25 year municipal waste 
management contract with Worcestershire County Council (WCC) and 
Herefordshire Council in December 1998. The company made significant early 
progress on delivering a range of new and refurbished facilities such as Waste 
Transfer Stations, Household Recycling Centres and Materials Recycling Facilities 
(MRFs), to enable the Joint Authorities to meet a range of waste management 
targets relating to recycling and landfill diversion. However, the cornerstone of 
Mercia Waste Management’s original proposal, and central to the achievement of 
the targets, was a major integrated waste management facility comprising an EfW 
plant and two MRFs at Kidderminster on the former British Sugar Factory site 

Page 1



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

(County Planning Authority Ref: 407511, Minute No. 87 refers). This development 
was refused planning permission following a public inquiry in 2002 (Appeal Ref: 
APP/E1855/A/01/1070998).

3. Subsequent to that refusal, Mercia Waste Management delivered a new large 
MRF at Area 7 Industrial Park, Norton, near Worcester; known as the EnviroSort 
(County Planning Authority Ref: 407669, Minute No. 541 refers, dated 16 July 2007, 
extant County Planning Authority Ref: 18/000035/CM, Minute No. 996 refers, dated 
26 September 2018). The applicant also identified a site for a replacement EfW 
facility proposal at Hartlebury Trading Estate near Kidderminster. 

4. Planning permission was granted by the Secretary of State for  – "proposed 
development of an Energy from Waste (EfW) facility for the combustion of non-
hazardous waste and the recovery of energy, comprising the Energy from Waste 
facility buildings and associated infrastructure (including an excavated development 
platform; site access; internal roads; weighbridges; car parking; fencing; drainage 
works and landscaping) on land at Plot H 600, Oak Drive Hartlebury Trading Estate, 
Hartlebury, Worcestershire"  on 19 July 2012 (Planning Inspectorate Ref: 
APP/E1855/V/11/2153273) (County Planning Authority Ref: 10/000032/CM, Minute 
No. 730 refers). The decision follows the application being referred to the Secretary 
of State under section 77 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the 
subsequent Planning Inquiry, which was held by an Inspector on behalf of the 
Secretary of State at County Hall from 22 November 2011 to 2 December 2011, 
inclusive. The Decision Letter is subject to 39 conditions. Condition 3 states that the 
total tonnage of waste treated at the EfW facility should not exceed 200,000 tonnes 
per annum.

5. Following the grant of planning permission (County Planning Authority Ref: 
10/000032/CM), three further applications for non-material amendments were 
submitted under Section 96a of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended):

 The first non-material amendment application sought to amend conditions 2, 7 
and 14 to allow a number of minor design changes. It was approved by the 
County Planning Authority on 31 March 2015 (County Planning Authority Ref: 
10/000032/NMA)

 The second non-material amendment sought to amend Condition 25 relating 
to the movement of Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA). It was approved by the 
County Planning Authority on 17 August 2016 (County Planning Authority Ref: 
16/000016/NMA). 

 The third non-material amendment sought to amend conditions 2, 7 and 14 to 
allow a number of further minor design changes. It was approved by the 
County Planning Authority on 4 October 2016 (County Planning Authority Ref: 
16/000019/NMA). 

6. Following the original grant of planning permission, the applicant discharged 
the planning conditions and built out the EfW facility, which became fully operational 
in March 2017. The applicant states that the facility is demonstrating excellent 
performance with high levels of availability. It was originally envisaged that the plant 
would operate for approximately 89% of the year, with planned maintenance 
shutdown periods over the remainder of the year (11%). Based upon the predicted 
calorific value of the waste it would be treating, this would have resulted in the 

Page 2



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

facility having a nominal throughput capacity of 200,000 tonnes per annum. On this 
basis, the 2012 planning permission was conditioned with this figure as the annual 
operational waste throughput limit. However, Mercia Waste Management now 
predicts that the facility will, in certain annual periods, have greater availability (than 
89%) and as such be capable of processing more waste. Accordingly, the applicant 
has made this planning application in order to seek to increase the facility’s capacity.

7. It should be noted that a planning permission granted under Section 73 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) creates a new standalone 
planning permission, leaving the original consent un-amended and intact.  Hence, if 
approved, this planning application would create a new planning permission under 
which the EnviRecover EfW facility would operate. 

The Proposal

8. The purpose of this planning application is to seek to increase the maximum 
consented throughput capacity of the EfW facility from 200,000 tonnes per annum to 
230,000 tonnes per annum. The proposed waste throughput increase is the 
maximum waste throughput capacity that can be achieved without any new built 
development or modification to the EfW facility and is based around operating the 
facility for more of the year than was originally planned. The extra capacity would be 
used to treat the same types of non-hazardous waste that are presently managed at 
the facility; and would predominantly be from commercial and industrial sources 
arising within Worcestershire. 

9. The level of traffic would remain within the originally daily number of HGVs 
anticipated within the original Environmental Statement, which was considered to be 
acceptable to the County Planning Authority, Inspector and Secretary of State when 
the facility was first granted planning permission and for which planning conditions 
were identified to offset this level of impact. There would be no change to staff 
numbers.

10. The proposed increase in the maximum waste throughput capacity can be 
achieved without any new built development or modification to the EfW facility and 
primarily arises from the plant being able to operate for more hours in a given year 
than was originally planned. This is because the facility can, in certain 12 monthly 
periods, operate continuously i.e. for 8,760 hours per annum, as compared to the 
originally anticipated 7,796 hours. In addition, and to a lesser extent, the plant 
throughput increases slightly when the calorific value (CV) of the waste is slightly 
lower than originally forecast. 

11. The applicant states that the proposed change is being sought for the following 
principal reasons:

 
 It would allow the EfW facility to operate at its maximum potential capacity 

and, in doing so, increase the amount of energy, including renewable energy, 
that would be produced 

 It would allow a greater volume of non-hazardous residual waste to be 
managed further up the waste hierarchy, than would otherwise be the case, 
and 

Page 3



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

 It would enable Mercia Waste Management and the Joint Authorities to 
maximise revenues from both the additional waste that would be treated, and 
the additional energy that would be generated. 

12. The applicant states that a maximum permissible throughput of 230,000 
tonnes per annum is sought on the basis that the EfW facility can treat 
approximately 26 tonnes of waste per hour, and if this is sustained through an 
annual period (26 tonnes x 8,760 hours) a throughput of 227,760 tonnes would be 
achieved. Accordingly, to provide a small degree of flexibility in the event the CV 
changes, the maximum permissible throughput has been rounded up to 230,000 
tonnes per annum. 

13. The applicant goes onto state that it must be recognised that the EfW facility 
would not treat approximately 230,000 tonnes per annum of waste every year, as 
there would still be maintenance / shutdown periods. However, Mercia Waste 
Management considers that the throughput of 230,000 tonnes per annum (or very 
near to it) is likely to be achieved in certain annual reporting periods. 

14. If the EfW facility was to operate continuously for a 12 month period, the total 
power generated at the facility would increase from the originally planned 106,000 
megawatt hours per year (MWh/yr) to approximately 135,780 MWh/yr. This would 
then provide sufficient electricity for the annual domestic needs of about 35,732 
homes, being an additional 7,837 homes over the currently permitted scheme. 

15. The reason why this application has been made is that Condition 3, attached 
to County Planning Authority Ref: 10/000032/CM states that: "The operator shall 
ensure that the amount of wastes treated at the facility hereby approved does not 
exceed 200,000 tonnes per year". This application seeks a revised Condition 3 with 
the only change being the replacement of the reference to '200,000' with '230,000'. 

16. The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement Addendum 
and new Non-Technical Summary which addresses the following matters: Traffic 
and Transportation and Air Quality. The application was also accompanied by the 
original Environmental Statement and Non-Technical Summary, and Regulation 19 
further information submissions.

The Site

17. The development site comprises of a 3.56 hectares plot of land situated in the 
centre of Hartlebury Trading Estate. The Trading Estate is wholly located within the 
Green Belt approximately 7 kilometres to the south-east of Kidderminster and 1.5 
kilometres to the east of Hartlebury Village. It covers an area of approximately 75 
hectares (180 acres) and is served by a purpose-built access via Crown Lane, off 
the A449 dual carriageway.  

18. To the immediate north of the site is Waresley Landfill Site (County Planning 
Authority Ref: 407177, Minute No. 1286 refers), operated by Biffa Waste Services, 
and Waresley Brickworks and clay extraction quarry, operated by Weinerberger. 
Forming the southern boundary of the site is Oak Drive, the estate road from which 
the site is accessed, beyond which is a range of industrial / commercial units. There 
are also existing industrial units located to the west of the site, and a private sewage 

Page 4



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

works that serves the Trading Estate and which immediately abuts the site's north-
west corner. To the east of the development site is a block of poplar trees and a 
small block of woodland known as Middle Covert, beyond which are further 
industrial units. 

19. The Hartlebury Trading Estate is occupied by a range of commercial, industrial 
and storage uses. Whilst there is a good degree of variation in the building type 
across the estate (including old MOD buildings and modern units) the buildings 
generally do not exceed two storeys in height. The size of the units varies greatly 
from 500 to 115,000 square feet (46 to 10,684 square metres). The average 
industrial unit is estimated at 20,000 square feet (1,858 square metres). The Estate 
is well laid out with wide access roads that are generally uncluttered by on street 
parking. 

20. The Scheduled Monuments of 'medieval settlement immediately surrounding 
St Michael's Church' and ' Churchyard cross at St Michael's Church' at Elmley 
Lovett are located approximately 300 metres and 510 metres to the east of the 
application site, respectively. The Grade II* Church of St Michael Listed Building is 
located approximately 650 metres to the east of the EfW facility. The Grade II 
Buildings of 'Churchyard Cross about 10 metres South of Nave of Church of St 
Michael', 'Aaron Memorial about 15 metres South-East of Chancel of Church of St 
Michael' and 'House about 50 metres East of Church of St Michael' are located 
approximately 530 metres, 545 metres and 585 metres east of the proposal. The 
Grade II Listed Building of 'New House Farmhouse' is located 600 metres north-east 
of the EfW facility. 

21. Hartlebury Common & Hillditch Coppice Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) is located approximately 2.8 kilometres north-west of the EfW facility. The 
Hadley, Elmley & Hockley Brooks LWS is located approximately 755 metres to the 
east of the EfW facility. The Forest LWS and associated Ancient Woodland and Pit 
Close Meadow LWS located approximately 745 metres and 945 metres to the 
south-east of the application site, respectively. 

22. The site is wholly located in Flood Zone 1 (low probability of flooding). The 
whole of the Trading Estate is covered by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO).  

23. The nearest residential properties to the application site comprise of a small 
number of isolated dwellings, the closest of which (known as Bellington) is situated 
about 265 metres to the south-east of the site. Further isolated properties are 
located approximately 600 metres to the north-east of the site, known as New 
House Farm. Waresley House, which is a Grade II Listed Building and Waresley 
Park residential estate (consisting of approximately 100 residential dwellings) are 
located over 1 kilometre to the west of the proposal. Hartlebury Village is situated 
about 1.5 kilometres to the north-west of the development, on the western side of 
the A449. 

Summary of Issues

24. The main issues in the determination of this application are:

 Need

Page 5



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

 Location of the Development (including Green Belt)
 Traffic and Highways Safety 
 Residential Amenity (including Air Pollution and Quality, Human Health, Noise 

and Litter Impacts)

Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
25. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was updated on 19 
February 2019 and replaces the previous NPPF published in March 2012 and July 
2018. The NPPF and sets out the government’s planning policies for England and 
how these are expected to be applied. The revised NPPF is a material consideration 
in planning decisions and should be read as a whole (including its footnotes and 
annexes). 

26. The NPPF should be read in conjunction with the Government’s planning 
policy for waste (National Planning Policy for Waste). Annex 1 of the NPPF states 
that "the policies in this Framework are material considerations which should be 
taken into account in dealing with applications from the day of its publication". 

27. The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to 
the achievement of sustainable development. Achieving sustainable development 
means that the planning system has three overarching objectives (economic, social 
and environmental), which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each 
of the different objectives):

 an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the 
right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure; 

 a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to 
meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open 
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health, 
social and cultural well-being; and 

 an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, 
helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising 
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including 
moving to a low carbon economy. 

28. These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the NPPF; they are not 
criteria against which every decision can or should be judged. Planning policies and 
decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable 
solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the 
character, needs and opportunities of each area. 

Page 6



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

29. So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of 
the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision-
taking this means: 

 approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 

 where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which 
are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: 

o the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

30. The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. 
Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan 
(including any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan), 
permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take 
decisions that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material 
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed. 

31. The following guidance contained in the NPPF, is considered to be of specific 
relevance to the determination of this planning application:

 Section 2: Achieving sustainable development 
 Section 4: Decision-making
 Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy
 Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport 
 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
 Section 13: Protecting Green Belt land
 Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change
 Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
 Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

National Planning Policy for Waste
32. The National Planning Policy for Waste was published on 16 October 2014 
and replaces "Planning Policy Statement 10 (PPS 10): Planning for Sustainable 
Waste Management" as the national planning policy for waste in England. The 
document sets out detailed waste planning policies, and should be read in 
conjunction with the NPPF, the Waste Management Plan for England and National 
Policy Statements for Waste Water and Hazardous Waste, or any successor 
documents. All local planning authorities should have regard to its policies when 

Page 7



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

discharging their responsibilities to the extent that they are appropriate to waste 
management.

The Development Plan 
33. The Development Plan is the strategic framework that guides land use 
planning for the area. In this respect the current Development Plan that is relevant to 
this proposal consists of the Adopted Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document and the Adopted South Worcestershire Development 
Plan. 

34. Planning applications should be determined in accordance with the provisions 
of the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions.

35. With regard to the weight to be given to existing policies adopted prior to the 
publication of the revised NPPF, Annex 1 states "existing policies should not be 
considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted or made prior to the 
publication of this Framework. Due weight should be given to them, according to 
their degree of consistency with this Framework (the closer the policies in the plan to 
the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)". 

Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document (WCS)
Policy WCS 1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy WCS 2: Enabling Waste Management Capacity
Policy WCS 4: Other recovery 
Policy WCS 6: Compatible land uses 
Policy WCS 8: Site infrastructure and access 
Policy WCS 9: Environmental assets 
Policy WCS 10: Flood risk and water resources 
Policy WCS 11: Sustainable design and operation of facilities
Policy WCS 12: Local characteristics
Policy WCS 13: Green Belt 
Policy WCS 14: Amenity
Policy WCS 15: Social and economic benefits

South Worcestershire Development Plan 
36. The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) covers the 
administrative areas of Worcester City Council, Wychavon District Council and 
Malvern Hills District Council. The SWDP policies that are of relevance to the 
proposal are set out below:-

Policy SWDP 1 Overarching Sustainable Development Principles
Policy SWDP 2 Development Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy 
Policy SWDP 4 Moving Around South Worcestershire 
Policy SWDP 5 Green Infrastructure 
Policy SWDP 6 Historic Environment 
Policy SWDP 8 Providing the Right Land and Buildings for Jobs
Policy SWDP 21 Design
Policy SWDP 22 Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy SWDP 24 Management of the Historic Environment 
Policy SWDP 25 Landscape Character
Policy SWDP 27 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

Page 8



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Policy SWDP 28 Management of Flood Risk
Policy SWDP 29 Sustainable Drainage Systems 
Policy SWDP 30 Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment
Policy SWDP 31 Pollution and Land Instability

Other Documents 

Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England (2018)
37. This Strategy is the first significant government statement in relation to waste 
management since the 2011 Waste Review and the subsequent Waste Prevention 
Programme 2013 for England. It builds on this earlier work, but also sets out new 
approaches to long-standing issues like waste crime, and to challenging problems 
such as packaging waste and plastic pollution. The Strategy is guided by two 
overarching objectives: 

 To maximise the value of resource use; and 
 To minimise waste and its impact on the environment. 

38. The Strategy sets five strategic ambitions: 

 To work towards all plastic packaging placed on the market being recyclable, 
reusable or compostable by 2025; 

 To work towards eliminating food waste to landfill by 2030; 
 To eliminate avoidable plastic waste over the lifetime of the 25 Year 

Environment Plan; 
 To double resource productivity by 2050; and 
 To eliminate avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050. 

39. It contains 8 chapters which address: sustainable production; helping 
consumers take more considered action;  recovering resources and managing 
waste; tackling waste crime; cutting down on food waste; global Britain: international 
leadership; research and innovation; and measuring progress: data, monitoring and 
evaluation. Chapter 3 – 'Resource Recovery and Waste Management' is the most 
relevant chapter to this proposal. 

40. This states that whilst recycling rates in construction have improved since 
2000, from 2013 onwards recycling rates have plateaued. The government wishes 
to drive better quantity and quality in recycling and more investment in domestic 
recycled materials markets. The government wants to promote UK-based recycling 
and export less waste to be processed abroad. The government wish to:

 Improve recycling rates by ensuring a consistent set of dry recyclable 
materials is collected from all households and businesses;

 Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from landfill by ensuring that every 
householder and appropriate businesses have a weekly separate food waste 
collection, subject to consultation;

 Improve urban recycling rates, working with business and local authorities; 
 Improve working arrangements and performance between local authorities; 
 Drive greater efficiency of Energy from Waste (EfW) plants; 
 Address information barriers to the use of secondary materials; and 

Page 9



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

 Encourage waste producers and managers to implement the waste hierarchy 
in respect to hazardous waste 

Waste Management Plan for England (2013)
41. The Government through Defra published the Waste Management Plan for 
England in December 2013. This Plan superseded the previous waste management 
plan for England, which was set out in the Waste Strategy for England 2007.

42. There are comprehensive waste management policies in England, which taken 
together deliver the objectives of the revised Waste Framework Directive, therefore, 
it is not the intention of the Plan to introduce new policies or to change the 
landscape of how waste is managed in England. Its core aim is to bring current 
waste management policies under the umbrella of one national plan. 

43. This Plan is a high level document which is non-site specific, and is a waste 
management, rather than a waste planning document. It provides an analysis of the 
current waste management situation in England, and evaluates how it will support 
implementation of the objectives and provisions of the revised Waste Framework 
Directive. 

44. The key aim of this Plan is to work towards a zero waste economy as part of 
the transition to a sustainable economy. In particular, this means using the “waste 
hierarchy” (waste prevention, re-use, recycling, recovery and finally disposal as a 
last option) as a guide to sustainable waste management.

The Government Review of Waste Policy England 2011
45. The Government Review of Waste Policy in England 2011 seeks to move 
towards a green, zero waste economy, where waste is driven up the waste 
hierarchy. The waste hierarchy gives top priority to waste prevention, followed by 
preparing for re-use, recycling, other types of recovery (including energy recovery) 
and last of all disposal.

46. In relation to infrastructure and planning paragraph 26 states that the 
Government continues to support local authorities in the provision of necessary 
waste infrastructure. Paragraph 256 identifies that the Government's ambitions for 
waste highlight the importance of putting in place the right waste management 
infrastructure at the right time and in the right location. The Government's ambition 
is to have appropriate waste reprocessing and treatment infrastructure constructed 
and operated effectively at all levels of the waste hierarchy to enable the most 
efficient treatment of our waste and resources. 

The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Herefordshire and 
Worcestershire 2004 – 2034 (First Review August 2011)
47. The purpose of the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for the two 
counties 2004 – 2034 (First Review August 2011) (JMWMS) is to clarify key issues, 
give clear direction on waste management in Herefordshire and Worcestershire and 
set out and co-ordinate general principles, policies and targets across all authorities 
in Herefordshire and Worcestershire. The aim of the JMWMS is to decrease waste 
production and increase the recovery value from waste (to re-use it, recycle it, 
compost it, or recover in other ways) by treating waste as a resource. The waste 
management policies that are considered to be of relevance to the determination of 
this planning application are:-

Page 10



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

 Policy 1 regarding Waste Hierarchy 
 Policy 2 regarding Waste Management in Herefordshire and Worcestershire 

providing good value for money
 Policy 3 regarding seeking to balance the longer term need to reduce the 

amount of waste generated and disposed of with the range and type of 
services necessary to meet customer needs

 Policy 4 regarding waste targets
 Policy 7 regarding minimising greenhouse gas emissions 
 Policy 13 regarding targets for recycling, composting and recovery 
 Policy 16 regarding promoting sustainable waste management 
 Policy 23 regarding reducing waste miles 

Planning for Health in South Worcestershire Supplementary Planning 
Document
48. The South Worcestershire Planning for Health SPD was adopted in September 
2017, and primarily focuses on the principle links between planning and health. The 
SPD addresses nine health and wellbeing principles, one of which is 'air quality, 
noise, light and water management'. The SPD seeks to address issues relating to air 
quality, noise, light and water management, and sets out guidance on how these 
matters can be improved via the planning process. 

South Worcestershire Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
49. The South Worcestershire Design Guide SPD was adopted in March 2018 and 
provides additional guidance on how the South Worcestershire Development Plan 
design related policies should be interpreted, for example through the design and 
layout of new development and public spaces across South Worcestershire, and is 
consistent with planning policies in the South Worcestershire Development Plan, in 
particular Policy SWDP 21 (Design). 

South Worcestershire Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Supplementary 
Planning Document
50. The South Worcestershire Renewable and Low Carbon Energy SPD sets out 
guidance on how the requirements in Policy SWDP 27 (Renewable and Low Carbon 
Energy) should be applied. It includes guidance on what must be provided in Energy 
Assessments; issues that need to be considered when examining the potential for 
decentralized energy and heat networks in large scale development proposals to 
comply with SWDP 27(B); the various renewable and low carbon energy 
technologies and the planning issues associated with each technology that will need 
to be addressed.

South Worcestershire Water Management and Flooding Supplementary 
Planning Document
51. The South Worcestershire Water Management and Flooding Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) was adopted in July 2018 and sets out in detail the South 
Worcestershire Councils' approach to minimising flood risk, managing surface water 
and achieving sustainable drainage systems. This applies to both new and existing 
development whilst ensuring that the reduction, re-use and recycling of water is 
given priority and water supply and quality is not compromised. It relates to policies 
SWDP 28 (Management of Flood Risk), SWDP 29 (Sustainable Drainage Systems) 
and SWDP 30 (Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment) of the adopted South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 

Page 11



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Consultations

52. Elmley Lovett Parish Council has made no comments.

53. Chaddesley Corbett Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) has no 
objections to the proposal. 

54. Elmbridge Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) has no 
objections to the proposal. 

55. Hampton Lovett and Westwood Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish 
Council) has no objections to the proposal, but request that the Total Preventative 
Maintenance Schedules are kept up to date, particularly for those items associated 
with the discharge stack and their associated filter equipment, and that these have 
at least an annual audit, both of the paperwork and the physical equipment. 

56. Hartlebury Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) have no 
objections to the proposal, subject to the imposition of a condition requiring signage 
to be installed on the A449 clearly indicating that there is no access through 
Hartlebury village to the Trading Estate and directing vehicles along Crown Lane.  
Vehicles leaving the Trading Estate should also be directed away from Hartlebury 
village. The Parish Council also request that the County Council examine amending 
the speed limit on Crown Lane to 50mph in line with the speed limit on the A449.

57. Ombersley and Doverdale Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) 
has no objections to the proposal, however, the Parish Council would like to be re-
assured that any additional traffic will be required to adhere the current travel route 
plans which were designed to minimise the impact of vehicular movements on the 
centre of Ombersley Village.

58. Rock Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) supports the proposal 
as they consider it is a better alternative to landfill.

59. Rushock Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) comments that 
representatives of Rushock Parish Council, having visited the Hartlebury EfW 
facility, they have been impressed both by the apparent efficiency of operations and 
the potential for energy generation. However, the new planning application and 
Environmental Permit do raise concerns.

60. In relation to the planning application, the Parish Council are concerned the 
application is for an increase in waste throughput by more than 13%, which is not 
inconsiderable and there are fears that this may be a “Trojan horse” request which 
would lead to further applications to extend the throughput in the future, resulting in 
increased vehicle movements. Whilst the proposed increased number of vehicles 
movements is understood to fall below the original estimated total vehicle 
movements, the Parish Council would raise an objection to any further increase 
beyond the stated 109 deliveries per day as set out in the original planning 
application. 

Page 12



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

61. The Parish Council wish to strongly object to waste being brought in to 
Hartlebury from outside Worcestershire and Herefordshire. In addition to the 
environmental issues caused by the transportation of waste from distance, the 
communities of the area surrounding the site were only ever asked to accept 
EnviRecover as a relatively local disposal facility. The Parish Council state that they 
would object in the strongest terms to steps which would lead to the facility 
becoming a regional or national waste disposal site.

62. In relation to the Environmental Permit, the Parish Council notes the 
requirement to increase carbon monoxide emission checks from 30 to 10 minute 
intervals, which would indicate a risk of higher emissions being a possibility.

63. In conclusion, Rushock Parish Council seeks confirmation that these 
applications (Environmental Permit and planning application) are not simply steps 
along a route which would fundamentally change both the original Environmental 
Permit and planning permission. 

64. Stone Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) has made no 
comments.

65. Stourport Town Council (Neighbouring Town Council) has made no 
comments.

66. Upton Warren Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) has made no 
comments.

67. Wychavon District Council has no objections to the proposal, noting that the 
proposed increase in throughput can be achieved without any new built 
development or modification to the existing facility. On that basis, subject to no 
objections to the proposal on highway grounds and no adverse impact in terms of 
environmental impact, the District Council has no objections to the proposal. 

68. Wyre Forest District Council (Neighbouring District Council) has no 
objections to the proposal. 

69. The Environment Agency has no objections to the proposal, and notes that 
an Environmental Permit application to amend the throughput of the facility to 
230,000 tonnes per annum has been 'duly made' to the Environment Agency and is 
pending consideration. 

70. Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Air Quality Officer) has no objections 
in relation to air quality. 

71. Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Noise, Dust and Odour Officer) has 
no objections to the proposal in terms of noise, odour or dust emissions.

72. The County Public Health Officer has made no comments.

73. Lead Local Flood Authority has no objections to the proposal. 

74. Severn Trent Water Limited has made no comments.

Page 13



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

75. The County Highways Officer has no objection to the proposal, subject to the 
imposition of conditions regarding restricting timing of HGV deliveries between 06:00 
and 19:00 hours;  restricting the throughput to 230,000 tonnes per annum; no HGVs 
to and from the facility to use Walton Road / Station Road except for those Refuse 
Collection Vehicles (RCVs) street collection runs, directly serving Hartlebury Village 
and adjacent properties with vehicular access only via Crown Lane and A449; 
Travel Plan; all waste materials carried on HGVs to be enclosed or covered; 
surfacing of driveway, parking and vehicular turning spaces and retaining these 
thereafter; and no material to be accepted at the site directly from members of the 
public.

76. The County Highways Officer states that they have considered the 
consultation responses from third parties, but consider subject to the conditions 
outlined above that there would not be a severe impact and, therefore, there are no 
justifiable grounds on which a highway objection could be maintained. 

77. The recommended conditions seek to restrict operational traffic to those roads 
only suitable for accommodating HGV movements, via reference to the 
Worcestershire County Council's 'Advisory Lorry Route Map'.  A core element of the 
routing strategy is that all operational HGV movements to / from the site would 
utilise Crown Lane to access the A449 dual carriageway. This would continue to 
minimise operational traffic impact on the immediate settlements of Hartlebury and 
Waresley.

78. No operational HGV movements to / from the facility would be permitted via 
the northern Trading Estate access via Walton Road - except for those existing RCV 
street collection runs directly serving Hartlebury Village or properties on Walton 
Road. The centre of Hartlebury Village and the eastern sections of Crown Lane and 
Walton Road are already prohibited for non-direct access related HGV movements 
by existing formal weight and width restrictions. These restrictions will remain in 
place for the extended operation. 

79. The County Highways Officer states that the Planning Inspector considered 
the impact of operational traffic as a result of the EfW facility and this was 
considered acceptable, subject to conditions. This consent sets precedence for the 
application proposals now being considered.

80. Taking the worst case scenario, when it is assumed that all deliveries at the 
facility would occur on weekdays (excluding bank holidays), there would be 3,732 
additional HGV movements across 253 delivery days, which equates to 
approximately 15 additional HGV movements (arrivals and departures) per day. 
With the 15 additional HGV movements per day added to the worst-case operational 
results taken from existing weighbridge data, the combined site (230,000 tonnes per 
annum) would generate approximately 209 (194 +15) operational HGV movements 
per day. This level of traffic remains within the daily number of HGVs acceptable to 
the Inspector and Secretary of State when the facility was first granted planning 
permission and for which planning conditions were identified to offset this level of 
impact. There would be no change to staff numbers. 

81. The Personal Injury Accident (PIA) data accompanying the planning 
application confirms that no accidents have occurred in proximity to the EfW facility 
since March 2017 when it opened, and the five year data suggests that PIAs have 

Page 14



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

remained low in the local area. No PIAs recorded within this period have involved 
HGVs.  

82. Highways England has no objections to the proposal, given the distance from 
the M5 Motorway, and the relatively small number of additional trips likely to affect 
their highway network.

83. The Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) has made no comments. 

84. The County Landscape and Archaeological Officer has no objections, 
given the scope of the amendment and proposal, which would not require 
construction of additional facilities to support the increased throughput.

85. Natural England has no objections to the proposal. 

86. Worcestershire Wildlife Trust has no objections to the proposal, stating that 
the proposed amendment would appear to not have any significant ecological 
effects. 

87. The County Ecologist has no objections to the proposal. 

88. Historic England has no objections and recommends that the County 
Planning Authority seek the views of the County Council and District Council's 
specialist conservation and archaeological advisers, as relevant.

89. West Mercia Police has no objections to the proposal. 

90. Hereford and Worcester Fire & Rescue Service has made no comments. 

91. National Grid comments that a low or medium pressure (below 2 bar) gas 
pipes and associated equipment are located within or in the vicinity of the 
application site. National Grid state that due to the presence of their apparatus, the 
applicant should contact them before any works are carried out to ensure their 
apparatus are not adversely affected by any of the proposed works.

92. Western Power Distribution comments that their apparatus is located within 
and adjacent to the application site (electricity); the use of mechanical excavators in 
the vicinity of their apparatus should be kept to a minimum. Any excavations in the 
vicinity of their apparatus should be carried out in accordance with the document 
titled: 'Health & Safety Executive Guidance HS(G)47, Avoiding Danger from 
Underground Services'. The applicant should contact Western Power Distribution 
should any diversions be required. 

93. Health and Safety Executive (HSE) has no objections to the proposal, stating 
that as the proposal is not within a consultation distance or a major hazard site or 
major accident hazard pipeline, the HSE does not need to be consulted on the 
proposal. 

Page 15



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Other Representations

94. The application has been advertised on site and in the press. To date, 2 letters 
of representation objecting to the proposal have been received. These letters of 
representation are available in the Members' Support Unit. Their main comments 
are summarised below:

Traffic
 An increase in heavy traffic on roads totally unsuitable for large vehicles. 
 Notes that Crown Lane is used by a large number of HGVs and waste lorries. 

Considers that the 60mph speed limit is not appropriate because there are 
other road users including horses, cyclists and walkers. The footway along 
Crown Lane is narrow and poor quality and often overgrown. They request 
that footway is upgraded and that regular hedge cutting takes place during the 
summer months. 

 Request a cycle lane is provided (painted line) on Crown Lane and the speed 
limit is restricted to 30mph. They query if the applicant could pay for these 
changes. 

Noise
 Adverse noise impact generated by the fans on the EfW facility, which has 

increased considerably over the years resulting in a constant hum and buzz 
which is loud, annoying and totally unacceptable to local residents. 

Litter
 Concerns regarding the amount of litter on Crown Lane, which they consider 

is being blown out of lorries. Photographs of litter accompanied their letter of 
representation. 

 Request that a condition is imposed requiring Mercia Waste Management to 
arrange / pay for regular litter picking of the local area. 

Other
 Disappointed that so soon after the original application such a large increase 

in throughput is being sought. 
 Query if waste can go to Javelin Park EfW Facility in Gloucestershire when it 

is operational in July instead. 

Planning Consultation 
 Query if the Public Notice has been displayed correctly, as there has not been 

a copy displayed at the entrance to the Trading Estate for at least 6 weeks. 

The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy's Comments

95. As with any planning application, this application should be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The relevant policies and key issues have been 
set out earlier. 

Page 16



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Need
96. Although there is no Government policy that requires, as a matter of general 
principle, applicants to demonstrate that there is a need for their development; it is 
widely recognised that the need for a scheme may be a material planning 
consideration that weighs in favour of a proposal. 

97. The applicant states that "the national need that exists for new built waste 
management infrastructure is primarily derived from European legislation, most 
notably the Landfill Directive and the revised Waste Framework Directive, and is 
evidenced by the fact that England continues to landfill very significant quantities of 
residual waste and also exports large crudely processed quantities of such waste, in 
the form of Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF). RDF comprises non-hazardous residual 
waste which has been subject to post collection processing, usually shredding and 
metals extraction, and sometimes baling within a plastic wrapper". 

98. The Waste Management Plan for England states that the UK also exports RDF 
mainly to northern continental Europe and Scandinavia for energy recovery. It states 
that exports have increased significantly in recent years in response to rising costs of 
landfill in the UK. This is reiterated by the Defra Digest of Waste Resource Statistics 
2018 Edition (May 2018), which is a compendium of statistics on a range of waste and 
resource areas, based on data published by Defra, WRAP, the Environment Agency, 
Office of National Statistics and Eurostat. It identifies that the export of RDF from 
England and Wales has increased very significantly from 2010 to 2017. In 2010, 9,000 
tonnes were exported to EfW facilities elsewhere in the EU. By 2017 this had increased 
to over 3.2 million tonnes, the majority of which was sent to the Netherlands, Germany 
and Sweden. 

99. Energy from Waste: A Guide to the Debate (February 2014, revised edition) 
seeks to provide a starting point for discussions about the role energy from waste 
might have in managing waste. It states with regard to the export of waste for 
energy recovery overseas at paragraph at 57 "while such exports are permissible, 
the energy recovered from the waste does not contribute to UK renewable energy 
targets and is effectively a lost resource to the UK. The Government is keen to 
support domestic RDF and Solid Recovered Fuel (SRF is similar to RDF, but 
produced to a detailed specification in order to meet certain criteria including 
calorific value, moisture content, density, particle size) markets, where they can 
provide better environmental outcomes, to ensure that the UK benefits from the 
energy generated from UK waste". 

100. Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England states that "thanks to 
improvements in recycling and sending more waste to EfW, we are less reliant on 
landfill – with a 72% reduction by weight of local authority collected waste sent to 
landfill since 2010/11". It goes onto state that the Government are committed to 
bring the amount of municipal solid waste sent to landfill down to no more than 10% 
of the total by 2035.

101. Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England states that "England has 
approximately 10.5 million tonnes of EfW operational capacity dedicated to treating 
municipal and / or industrial and commercial waste, enough to treat around 36% of 
municipal residual waste at current levels. We expect an additional 2.0 million 
tonnes of EfW capacity to come on stream by 2020 from plants which are in 
construction. Greater waste prevention, reuse and a 65% municipal waste recycling 

Page 17



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

rate, delivered through policies in this Strategy, will mean that municipal residual 
waste is expected to decrease to around 20.0 million tonnes per annum by 2035". 
The Strategy goes onto state that "given our projections we continue to welcome 
further market investment in residual waste treatment infrastructure. We particularly 
encourage developments that increase plant efficiency, minimise environmental 
impacts whilst upholding our existing high standards of emissions control, and 
progress technologies that produce outputs beyond electricity generation where 
these are demonstrated to be environmentally sound and economically viable".
 
102. With regard to waste management data and particularly future waste 
management forecasting, it is widely recognised that this is not a precise science. 
The applicant states that "probably the most accurate, relevant, contemporary 
information is contained within two reports produced by Tolvik Consulting in 2017. 
Tolvik is a widely respected independent provider of commercial due diligence and 
market analysis services to the European waste and bioenergy sectors. The two 
relevant reports are: 

 'UK Energy from Waste Statistics – 2016 (June 2017)'; and 
 'UK Residual Waste: 2030 Market Review (November 2017)'". 

103. The 'UK Energy from Waste Statistics – 2016 (June 2017)' report identifies that 
in 2016 a total of 9.96 million tonnes of residual waste was processed in UK EfW's 
which represented 35.4% of the UK’s residual waste. However, 48.5% (13.65 million 
tonnes) of residual waste was still being sent to landfill. The 'UK Residual Waste: 
2030 Market Review (November 2017)' report shows that in 2016 the total RDF 
exports from the UK as a whole were approximately 3.6 million tonnes. The 
applicant states that "this means that in 2016, the UK had an energy recovery (EfW) 
capacity gap of over 17 million tonnes (13.65 Million tonnes + 3.6 million tonnes. = 
17.25 million tonnes)". 

104. The 'UK Energy from Waste Statistics – 2017 (June 2018)' report updates the 
amount of residual waste processed in UK EfW's. It identifies that in 2017 a total of 
10.89 million tonnes of residual waste was processed in UK EfW's, which 
represented 39.1% of the UK’s residual waste, an increase of 7.7% on 2016. 
However, the report states that this is a relatively slower rise than the 8.8% average 
growth rate since 2009.

105. The 'UK Residual Waste: 2030 Market Review (November 2017)' report 
identifies that in terms of the 2030 EfW capacity gap forecast, 5.7 million tonnes of 
residual waste will continue to be landfilled in 2030. 

106. In view of the above, it is clear that the UK needs significantly more residual 
waste treatment capacity. 

107. With regard to the 'need' within Worcestershire, it is noted that EnviRecover is 
the only operational non-hazardous residual waste energy recovery facility within 
Worcestershire. The applicant states that "the significant majority of its current 
200,000 tonnes per annum throughput is dedicated to the treatment of municipal 
waste generated within the Joint Authority area. However, it does handle some 
commercial and industrial waste from private waste management companies 
operating within Worcestershire. The increased capacity at EnviRecover would allow 
more of this commercial and industrial waste to be subject to energy recovery". 

Page 18



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

108. Table 3 of the Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy identifies a minimum 
capacity gap of 240,500 tonnes per annum for 'other recovery'. The EnviRecover 
facility opened in 2017, with a permitted 200,000 tonnes per annum capacity, and 
has thus significantly contributed towards closing the identified capacity gap. 
However, even when taking EnviRecover into account, there is still a 40,500 tonnes 
per annum capacity gap for ‘other recovery’ within Worcestershire.

109. Figure 8 of the Waste Core Strategy provides capacity gap projections up to 
2035 / 2036 for all waste streams. This Figure identifies that the 'other recovery' 
capacity gap will continue to grow to over 300,000 tonnes per annum (without 
EnviRecover). Accordingly, with EnviRecover, the future forecast capacity gap for 
the 'other recovery' of waste rises to approximately 100,000 tonnes per annum. 

110. Table 4 of the Waste Core Strategy identifies the 'other recovery' gap for 
commercial and industrial waste. This rises from 120,500 tonnes per annum in 2010 
/ 2011 to 176,000 tonnes per annum in 2035 / 2036. The applicant has confirmed 
that approximately 20,000 to 30,000 tonnes per annum of commercial and industrial 
waste is currently treated at EnviRecover, therefore, the capacity gap requirement 
for the management of commercial and industrial waste remains significant. 

111. Worcestershire County Council's Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) reviews 
the progress of the Waste Core Strategy and assesses the extent to which the 
objectives of the Waste Core Strategy are being implemented and the targets met. 
The most recent AMR covers the period from 1st April 2015 to 31st December 2015. 

112. Appendix A of the AMR shows that in 2015, only 48% of Worcestershire’s 
commercial and industrial waste was subject to re-use, recycling and 'other 
recovery'. This is below the milestone target set within the AMR, which aimed for 
57.3% re-use, recycling and 'other recovery' of commercial and industrial waste in 
2015, and 75% by 2020. This demonstrates that there remains a need for further 
'other recovery' capacity within Worcestershire. 

113. With regards to the electricity production, the applicant has confirmed that the 
proposal would not increase the installed generating or exportation capacity of 
EnviRecover, with the export capacity remaining at around 15.5MW. However, the 
MW hours per year (MWh/yr) of electricity that would be generated and exported 
would increase. 

114. In the original EnviRecover application Environmental Statement, it was 
estimated that the facility would have an annual export generation of 106,000 
MWh/yr. The applicant estimates that as result of this proposal the annual export 
generation of power would increase to 135,780 MWh/yr. This would provide 
sufficient electricity for the annual domestic needs of approximately 35,732 homes 
(an additional 7,837 homes over the permitted scheme). 

115. In view of this, it is considered that there is a demonstrable need for the 
additional 'other recovery' capacity proposed at EnviRecover in order to contribute to 
towards the more sustainable management of local residual commercial and 
industrial waste. Furthermore, the increase in total energy generation at 
EnviRecover would add to UK energy security through the production of reliable and 
predictable electricity derived from an indigenous fuel source. 

Page 19



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Location of the Development (including Green Belt)
116. The principle of the development in this location has already been established 
and whilst the original application was approved prior to the adoption of the 
Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, the Secretary of State in his Decision Letter 
did consider the EfW facility against the draft policies of the Waste Core Strategy. 
The Decision Letter stated: "the Secretary of State has also had regard to the 
Inspector’s comments on the emerging Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy…and 
his view that the proposal accords with the overall objectives of those emerging 
documents". The Inspector in his report stated that "Hartlebury Trading Estate is 
within the highest level of the geographical hierarchy for the location of waste 
management facilities… the proposal would accord with all aspects of Policy WCS 2 
(now Policy WCS 4 in the adopted Waste Core Strategy) which specifically sets the 
policy tests for the development of 'other recovery' facilities. The supporting text to 
the policy indicates that 'other recovery' facilities include thermal treatment and 
recovery facilities…the Hartlebury Trading Estate represents a 'compatible land use' 
for 'other recovery' facilities within the meaning of Policy WCS 4" (now Policy WCS 6 
in the adopted Waste Core Strategy). The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and 
Economy considers that the proposed development accords with Policies WCS 4 
and WCS 6 of Worcestershire Waste Core.

117. The proposal is located within the Green Belt, the introduction to Section 13 of 
the NPPF states that "the Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. 
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping 
land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their 
openness and their permanence. The NPPF states that Green Belt serves five 
purposes:

 to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
 to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
 to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
 to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
 to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land".

118. Paragraph 143 of the NPPF states that "inappropriate development is, by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very 
special circumstances". Paragraph 144 of the NPPF states that "when considering 
any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that substantial 
weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not 
exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, 
and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations". 

119. The original application was considered to be inappropriate development, but 
the Secretary of State found very special circumstances to exist, stating in his 
Decision Letter: "in conclusion on this matter, having given substantial weight to the 
harm that would arise in this case, the Secretary of State is satisfied that the other 
considerations listed by the Inspector…clearly outweigh the potential harm to the 
Green Belt and that very special circumstances have been demonstrated in this 
case".

Page 20



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

120. The proposal seeks to increase the maximum waste throughput capacity of the 
EfW Facility that is restricted by condition. The applicant has confirmed that this can 
be achieved without any new built development or modification to the EfW facility 
and primarily arises from the plant being able to operate for more hours in a given 
year than was originally planned. 

121. In view of this, it is considered that the proposal would not result in any new 
built development that would have an adverse impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including land within it.

122. Under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 
2009, the County Council is required to consult the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government on new buildings in the Green Belt it intends to 
approve that would be inappropriate development and exceed 1,000 square metres; 
or any other development which, by reason of its scale or nature or location, would 
have a significant impact on the openness of the Green Belt. Should the Planning 
and Regulatory Committee be minded to grant planning permission, given that this 
proposal does not involve new buildings and would not have an adverse impact 
upon the openness of the Green Belt, it is not considered that the Secretary of State 
for Communities and Local Government would have to be consulted on this 
application prior to its determination.

Residential Amenity (Including Air Pollution and Quality, Human Health, 
Noise and Litter Impacts)
123. The nearest residential properties to the application site comprise of a small 
number of isolated dwellings, the closest of which (known as Bellington) is situated 
about 265 metres to the south-east of the site. Further isolated properties are 
located approximately 600 metres to the north-east of the site, known as New 
House Farm. 

124. Chapter 4.0 of the Environmental Statement Addendum considers air quality 
associated with the proposed traffic increase, and the increased emissions from the 
EfW facility. It is supported by a detailed Dispersion Modelling Assessment and 
Human Health Risk Assessment.

125. The nearest Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) to the EfW facility is the 
Horsefair / Coventry Street AQMA located approximately 6.5 kilometres north of the 
EfW facility, in Kidderminster. 

126. The Environmental Statement Addendum concludes that the increase in 
throughput of waste would increase the number of vehicles importing and exporting 
material and the amount of substances that would be emitted to the atmosphere. 
However, the increases in vehicles associated with the proposal are minimal, such 
that they are not predicted to have a measurable impact on local air quality. 

127. The likely significant environmental effects of the change to process emissions 
associated with the increase in capacity for the EfW facility, indicate that the existing 
stack would provide more than adequate dispersion to the atmosphere and that the 
increase in throughput of waste is not predicted to have a significant impact on local 
air quality. The Environmental Statement Addendum also concluded that the 
proposal is not likely to have a significant effect on ecological receptors and the 
impact upon human health is considered to be negligible. 

Page 21



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

128. The primary environmental controls over the proposed operation would be 
contained within the Environment Agency's Environmental Permit for the site. It is 
noted that paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that "the focus of planning policies and 
decisions should be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of 
land, rather than the control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to 
separate pollution control regimes). Planning decisions should assume that these 
regimes will operate effectively". Paragraph Reference ID: 28-050-20141016 of the 
Government PPG elaborates on this matter, stating that "there exist a number of 
issues which are covered by other regulatory regimes and waste planning 
authorities should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. The focus of 
the planning system should be on whether the development itself is an acceptable 
use of the land and the impacts of those uses, rather than any control processes, 
health and safety issues or emissions themselves where these are subject to 
approval under other regimes. However, before granting planning permission they 
will need to be satisfied that these issues can or will be adequately addressed by 
taking the advice from the relevant regulatory body".

129. The EfW facility operates under an Environmental Permit and the Environment 
Agency has been consulted and has raised no objections to the proposal, noting 
that an Environmental Permit application to amend the throughput of the facility to 
230,000 tonnes per annum has been 'duly made' and is pending consideration. 
Worcestershire Regulatory Services has raised no objections to the proposal in 
terms of air quality, noise, dust and odour emissions.

130. A letter of representation has been received objecting to the proposal on noise 
grounds, stating that they experience an adverse noise impact generated by the 
fans on the EfW facility, which has increased considerably over the years resulting 
in a constant hum and buzz which is totally unacceptable to local residents. The 
Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy notes that the extant planning 
permission sets maximum noise limits from the site to be measured at Manor Lane, 
Crown Lane, Walton Road and Ryeland Lane and means of noise compliance 
monitoring (conditions 25 to 27). It is recommended that should planning permission 
be granted that these conditions are imposed on any new permission. Furthermore, 
it is noted that the Environment Agency investigated a complaint relating to a low 
frequency hum in September 2017 (from the same local residents). The noise was 
audible, however, it was noted that the EfW facility was shut down due to an 
unplanned breakdown, so the turbine, boiler and fans were not running. In view of 
this, the Environment Agency considered the noise was not originating from the EfW 
facility.  

131. With regard to concerns expressed by a local resident regarding litter along 
Crown Lane being blown off lorries carrying waste material serving the EfW facility. 
It is noted that Condition 9 of the extant permission requires all loads of waste 
materials carried on HGV into and out of the facility to be enclosed or covered. 
Furthermore, it is considered that such vehicles would have also travelled some 
distance before reaching the site. In view of this, it is considered highly unlikely the 
litter is attributable to activities at EnviRecover, and that the proposal is acceptable 
on litter ground should to the extant planning conditions being imposed on any new 
planning permission. 

Page 22



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

132. In view of the above matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and 
Economy considers that the proposal would have no adverse air quality, noise or 
litter impacts upon residential amenity or that of human health, subject to the 
imposition of conditions as imposed on the extant planning permission. 

Traffic and Highway Safety
133. Letters of representation has been received objecting to the proposal on 
highway grounds, raising concerns that the proposal would result in an increase in 
heavy traffic on roads totally unsuitable for large vehicles. Objections have also 
been raised on highway safety grounds due to the speed of HGVs travelling along 
Crown Lane. 

134. The submitted Environmental Statement Addendum assessed highways and 
transport related environmental impacts of the proposal, and is supported by a 
Transport Statement. 

135. It is noted that Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states "development should only 
be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe". 

136. Access to the EnviRecover EfW Facility is via the existing access road off Oak 
Drive. This route is an industrial standard road, providing access to other frontage 
industrial units within the eastern section of Hartlebury Trading Estate. Oak Drive 
effectively operates as a cul-de-sac route, with through access to Ryeland Lane to 
the east being restricted via a locked gate (understood to be permanently locked 
and available for emergency access only). Oak Drive has a width of approximately 8 
metres, is fully lit and has a 30mph speed limit. 

137. The original Transport Assessment anticipated the peak operational day HGV 
trip generation associated with the EfW development was approximately 218 HGV 
movements (109 HGVs entering the site and 109 HGVs exiting the site per day). 
The applicant has reviewed the existing site operations in terms of HGV movements 
and confirmed that on average Mondays to Fridays HGV movements are 
approximately 178 movements per day (89 HGVs entering the site and 89 HGVs 
exiting the site per day). The applicant states that Tuesdays to Fridays represent the 
busiest period of the week, with a maximum daily average of 97 loads (194 HGV 
movements per day) being recorded on Thursdays. On Saturdays the average daily 
HGV movements is 80 movements (40 HGVs entering the site and 40 HGVs exiting 
the site per day). 

138. The Environmental Statement Addendum states that "the increase in plant 
throughput primarily arises as a result of the EfW facility being able to operate for a 
higher number of hours in the year, by virtue of operating for more days in the year. 
Accordingly, typical daily HGV flows would not change to those presently occurring. 
It would simply be the case, that there would be more days in a year when HGV 
movements to / from the EfW facility would take place. Thus, the total annual 
number of HGVs servicing the EfW facility would increase, but the typical daily HGV 
flows would not change". 

139. "Notwithstanding the above, it is considered helpful to understand the total 
annual additional HGV numbers associated with increase in capacity. The additional 

Page 23



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

waste would be from commercial and industrial sources and be delivered from 
existing waste management facilities in articulated, bulk HGVs. Based on similar 
deliveries already occurring at EnviRecover, the additional waste would arrive in 
average payloads of 20.4 tonnes. Accordingly, based on an additional 30,000 
tonnes per annum of waste, there would be approximately an additional 1,471 HGV 
deliveries, equating to approximately an additional 2,942 HGV movements per 
annum". 

140. "In addition to waste deliveries, there would be a corresponding increase in 
HGV movements associated with consumables and Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA) 
and Air Pollution Control Residues (APCR) export. In overall terms (proportionate to 
the capacity increase), these would rise by approximately 15% per annum. This 
would, therefore, equate to an average of an additional 395 HGV deliveries (790 
HGV movements per annum)". 

141. Adding the additional annual waste import HGV movements to those 
associated with consumables and IBA and APCR export, there would be a further 
3,732 HGV movements (2,942 + 790) per year associated with the increase in 
capacity. Whilst only theoretical, the proposal would increase the total number of 
daily HGVs servicing EnviRecover by approximately 15 HGV movements per day 
from approximately 178 to 193 HGV movements per day (3,732 vehicle movements 
/ 253 delivery days = 15 additional vehicle movements). This is based on a worst 
case basis where it is assumed that all deliveries would occur on weekdays 
(excluding bank holidays). This is considered to be materially lower than that 
assessed within the original Transport Assessment. 

142. The County Highways Officer has been consulted and has raised no 
objections to the proposal, subject to the imposition of conditions as imposed on the 
extant planning permission. 

143. It is noted that the approved Travel Plan (condition 8) requires:

 Main waste vehicle / HGV access to the EnviRecover site on the Hartlebury 
Trading Estate will be off Crown Lane, connecting to its junction with the A449. 
Access to the site from the northern entrance to the Trading Estate on Walton 
Road via Worcester Road Hartlebury and Hartlebury village centre will not be 
permitted.

 The A449, to the north and south of the Crown Lane junction, are designated as 
the main conduit for all waste delivery and HGV traffic.

 Further afield, waste delivery & HGV traffic to EnviRecover will be 
discouraged/prohibited from the following routes, potential constraints and ‘pinch 
points:

o Ombersley village centre, the Old Worcester Road and approaches from 
the west (A443), and the east (A4133).

o Height restricted (4.10 metres or 13 feet 6 inches) railway underbridge 
(The Black Bridge) on the A450 close to the junction with the A449.

o C Class roads and lanes giving access to the Hartlebury Trading Estate 
from the east and specifically the A442, including the section of Crown 
Lane to the east of the Trading Estate access.

 The only exceptions / exemptions to the above routing strategy will be local waste 
collection traffic and common service vehicles (say fuel deliveries) requiring 
collection / delivering along, and, in the vicinity of, the 'prohibited' routes, and from 

Page 24



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

villages in the vicinity of Hartlebury. In these circumstances, the presence of site 
related HGVs is unavoidable and wider diversionary routes would be impractical.

144. Rushock Parish Council wish to strongly object to waste being brought in to 
Hartlebury from outside Worcestershire and Herefordshire. It is noted that this was 
considered by the Planning Inspector was considering the original application, 
Paragraph 12.4 of the Inspector's Report stated: "condition d (numbering in 
schedule within Statement of Common Ground 2) restricts the waste to be received 
at the facility to that which arises in the 2 counties. The applicant objects to this on 
the basis that the origin of waste from waste transfer stations may not be readily 
identifiable, there is no longer a proximity principle, the contract with the 2 Counties 
and the fact that any Commercial and Industrial waste will be taken to the nearest 
facility means that this will be largely self-regulating, there is substantially more 
waste in the 2 counties than can be treated, and if there were not sufficient waste 
from within the 2 counties, would it be right for the facility not to be able to operate? I 
find these arguments persuasive and consider that there is no justification for the 
suggested condition which fails the test of necessity".

145. The Inspector also identified at Paragraph 7.46 of his Report that the proximity 
principle no longer form part of extant planning policy. In view of the above, the 
Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that a condition restricting 
the sources of waste from solely Worcestershire would not pass the 6 tests of 
planning conditions (necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be 
permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects) as set out at 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF, failing the necessity test.

146. In view of the above matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and 
Economy is satisfied that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact upon 
traffic and highway safety, subject to the imposition of conditions as imposed on the 
extant planning permission.

Other Matters
Alternatives 
147. Schedule 4 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 outlines the information for inclusion within 
Environmental Statements. Paragraph 2 states "a description of the reasonable 
alternatives (for example in terms of development design, technology, location, size 
and scale) studied by the developer, which are relevant to the proposed project and 
its specific characteristics, and an indication of the main reasons for selecting the 
chosen option, including a comparison of the environmental effects".

148. The Government's PPG states that "the 2017 Regulations do not require an 
applicant to consider alternatives. However, where alternatives have been 
considered, paragraph 2 of Schedule 4 requires the applicant to include in their 
Environmental Statement a description of the reasonable alternatives studied…and 
an indication of the main reasons for selecting the chosen option, including a 
comparison of the environmental effects" (Paragraph Reference ID: 4-041-
20170728). 

149. The applicant states that "in the case of this planning application, the 
Environmental Statement associated with the original planning application for the 
EnviRecover EfW facility considered appropriate alternatives. The facility is now 

Page 25



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

operational and, therefore, it is not considered appropriate to assess alternative 
waste management operations, technology choices, locations or design solutions, 
which in any event were fully considered as part of the original planning application. 

150. The only alternative which is worthy of any consideration is to ‘do nothing’ 
insofar as to continue operations in accordance with the extant planning permission, 
and not proceed with proposals to vary Condition 3. The dis-benefits of such an 
option…would prevent the opportunity to improve the efficiency of the plant, and 
consequently increase the amount of low-carbon renewable energy produced; and it 
would prevent the opportunity to increase the volume of waste which could be 
managed in accordance with the waste hierarchy". 

151. In view of the above, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy 
considers that the applicant's approach to the consideration of alternatives is 
acceptable in this instance. 

Project Vulnerability to Major Accidents / Disasters 
152. Schedule 4, Paragraph 8 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 requires that the Environmental Statement 
includes "a description of the expected significant adverse effects of the 
development on the environment deriving from the vulnerability of the development 
to risks of major accidents and / or disasters which are relevant to the project 
concerned". Furthermore, where appropriate, "this description should include 
measures envisaged to prevent or mitigate the significant adverse effects of such 
events on the environment and the preparedness for and proposed response to 
such emergencies". 

153. The applicant states that "the EfW facility is located within a politically, 
geologically and meteorologically stable part of Europe. Accordingly, it is not at 
material risk from, for example, civil unrest, war, earthquakes or extreme weather 
conditions (hurricanes etc.)". 

154. "It is for a type of development and technology that has been successfully 
deployed around Europe for many decades and in over 500 instances without, to the 
applicant’s knowledge, any major accidents and / or disasters. The most notable 
incidents being accidental fire damage, thus, the technology is proven and well 
understood". 

155. In view of this, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied 
that the proposal is unlikely to result in significant adverse effects on the 
environment deriving from the vulnerability of the proposal to risks of major 
accidents and / or disasters. 

Other Environmental Impacts 
156. An Environmental Statement accompanied the original application, which 
covered traffic and transportation, landscape and visual, ecology and nature 
conservation, geology, soils and groundwater, surface water and flood risk, noise 
and vibration, air quality, human health, archaeology and cultural heritage and 
cumulative effects. 

157. The current application is supported by the original Environmental Statement, 
subsequent Regulation 19 requests for further information, as well as an Addendum 

Page 26



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

to the Environmental Statement, which provides an update to the potential 
significant effects on the environment, as a result of the changes now being 
proposed, namely traffic and transportation and air quality and human health 
impacts. The Environmental Statement Addendum also updates the overall 
Environmental Statement to ensure full compliance with the relevant provisions of 
The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017. 

158. Having regard to the consultee consultation responses outlined in this report, 
the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that the proposal 
would not adversely impact landscape and visual, ecology and nature conservation, 
geology, soils and groundwater, surface water and flood risk, noise and vibration, 
archaeology and cultural heritage and cumulative effects, subject to the imposition 
of conditions as imposed on the extant planning permission.

Planning Consultation 
159. A letter of representation has been received querying if the Public Notices 
have been displayed correctly.

160. The statutory requirements for consultation on planning applications by local 
planning authorities are outlined in the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) and the Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The 
statutory requirement is for a site display in at least one place on or near the land to 
which the application relates for not less than 30 days and; by publication of the 
notice in a newspaper circulating in the locality in which the land to which the 
application relates is situated.

161. Twelve Public Notices were erected on and in the vicinity of the application site 
in the same or similar locations to those erected for the original planning permission 
(County Planning Authority Ref: 10/000032/CM); and Press Notices were published 
in both the Droitwich Advertiser and Kidderminster Shuttle, giving 39 days' notice 
(due to the intervening Christmas period). Paper copies of the submitted planning 
application documents were also made available at Droitwich Library and County 
Hall Reception. An electronic copy of the submission was also made available on 
Worcestershire County Council's website; and copies were made available for 
purchase from the applicant. In view of this, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and 
Economy is satisfied that the County Planning Authority has complied with the 
appropriate procedures.

EIA Team and Expertise 
162. Regulation 18(5) of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 requires the applicant to ensure that the 
Environmental Statement is prepared by competent experts and the Environmental 
Statement must be accompanied by a statement from the developer outlining the 
relevant expertise or qualifications of such experts. This is in order to ensure the 
completeness and quality of the Environmental Statement. 

163. The Environmental Statement and Addendum was compiled and coordinated 
by AXIS, a multi-disciplinary planning, environmental and transportation 
consultancy. AXIS has prepared Chapter 1.0, 2.0, 3.0 and 5.0 of the submitted 
Environmental Statement Addendum. Fichtner Consulting Engineers has 

Page 27



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

undertaken the Air Quality and Human Health Assessments which are reported in 
Chapter 4.0 of the Environmental Statement Addendum. Each Chapter of the 
Environmental Statement Addendum outlines the relevant expertise and / or 
qualifications of the experts that prepared the chapter. 

164. In view of this, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied 
that the applicant has engaged competent experts to prepare the Environmental 
Statement Addendum.

Conclusion

165. Mercia Waste Management is seeking to vary condition 3 of planning 
permission reference: 10/000032/CM (as amended) to increase the throughput of 
the EnviRecover Energy from Waste (EfW) Facility from 200,000 to 230,000 tonnes 
per annum at Mercia EnviRecover, Plot H600, Oak Drive, Hartlebury Trading Estate.

166. The applicant states that the proposed change is being sought for the following 
principal reasons:

 
 It would allow the EfW facility to operate at its maximum potential capacity 

and, in doing so, increase the amount of energy, including renewable energy, 
that would be produced; 

 It would allow a greater volume of non-hazardous residual waste to be 
managed further up the waste hierarchy, than would otherwise be the case; 
and 

 It would enable Mercia Waste Management and the Joint Authorities to 
maximise revenues from both the additional waste that would be treated, and 
the additional energy that would be generated. 

167. The applicant is accompanied by an Environmental Statement Addendum and 
new Non-Technical Summary. The application was also accompanied by the original 
Environmental Statement and Non-Technical Summary, and Regulation 19 further 
information submissions.

168. It is considered that there is a both a national and local need for 'other 
recovery' capacity for the treatment of residual non-hazardous waste and that this 
proposal would contribute towards meeting this need. Furthermore, the proposal 
would make a positive contribution towards national energy needs, including the 
need for more renewable energy generation. 

169. The principle of the development in this location has already been established 
and the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the proposed 
development accords with Policies WCS 4 and WCS 6 of Worcestershire Waste 
Core.

170. With regard to impacts upon the Green Belt, the applicant has confirmed that 
the proposal would not result in any new built development or modification to the 
EfW facility and primarily arises from the plant being able to operate for more hours 
in a given year than was originally planned. In view of this, it is considered that the 
proposal would not have an adverse impact on the openness of the Green Belt and 
does not conflict with the purposes of including land within it.

Page 28



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

171. Based on the advice of the Environment Agency and Worcestershire 
Regulatory Services, it is considered that the proposal would have no adverse air 
quality, noise or litter impacts upon residential amenity or that of human health, 
subject to the imposition of conditions as imposed on the extant planning 
permission. 

172. The proposal would increase the total number of daily HGVs servicing 
EnviRecover by approximately 15 HGV movements per day from approximately 178 
to 193 HGV movements per day. The County Highways Officer has raised no 
objections, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions. In view of this, the 
Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that the proposal would 
not have an unacceptable impact upon traffic and highway safety, subject to the 
imposition of conditions as imposed on the extant planning permission.

173. Taking into account the provisions of the Development Plan and in particular 
Policies WCS 1, WCS 2, WCS 4, WCS 6, , WCS 8, WCS 9, WCS 10, WCS 11, 
WCS 12, WCS 13, WCS 14 and WCS 15 of the Adopted Worcestershire Waste 
Core Strategy and Policies SWDP 1, SWDP 2, SWDP 4, SWDP 5, SWDP 6, SWDP 
8, SWDP 21, SWDP 22, SWDP 24, SWDP 25, SWDP 27, SWDP 28, SWDP 29, 
SWDP 30 and SWDP 31 of the Adopted South Worcestershire Development Plan, it 
is considered the proposal would not cause demonstrable harm to the interests 
intended to be protected by these policies or highway safety.

Recommendation

174. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy recommends that, 
having taken the environmental information into account planning permission 
be granted for the carrying-out of development pursuant to planning 
permission reference number 10/000032/CM (Planning Inspectorate Ref: 
APP/E1855/V/11/2153273) (as amended), without complying with condition 3 
(waste throughput) of that permission so as to increase the throughput of the 
EnviRecover Energy from Waste (EfW) Facility from 200,000 to 230,000 tonnes 
per annum at Mercia EnviRecover, Plot H600, Oak Drive, Hartlebury Trading 
Estate, Hartlebury, Worcestershire, subject to the following conditions:

a) The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance 
with the following documents and drawings, except for where measures 
are required by the conditions set out elsewhere in this permission which 
shall take precedence over those documents listed here:

Documents:

 The Planning Application Document Volume 1 and 2 (April 2010)
 The Environmental Statement Volume 1: Main Report and Volume 2: 

Technical Appendices (April 2010)
 The Transport Assessment (April 2010)

Drawings:-

 1204 PL0002 Planning Application Boundary Plan (April 2010)

Page 29



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

 1204 PL0003 Rev F Proposed Site Plan (August 2016)
 1204 PL0004 Rev E Proposed Traffic Plan (August 2016)
 1204 PL005 Rev E Proposed Basement Floor Plans (August 2016)
 50053010 Rev 3.0 Ground and First Floor Level General Arrangement 

(February 2015)
 50053012 Rev 3.0 Second and Third Floor Level General 

Arrangement (February 2015)
 50053014 Rev 3.0 Fourth and Fifth Floor Level General Arrangement 

(February 2015)
 1204 PL0009 Rev B Proposed Roof Plan (August 2016)
 1204 PL0011 Rev F Proposed Site Sections AA and BB (August 2016)
 1204 PL0012 Rev E Proposed North Elevation (August 2016)
 1204 PL0013 Rev E Proposed East Elevation (August 2016)
 1204 PL0014 Rev E Proposed South Elevation (August 2016)
 1204 PL0015 Rev E Proposed West Elevation (August 2016)
 1204 PL0016 Rev E Proposed Turbine Building Elevations (August 

2016)
 1204 PL0017 Rev D Proposed Weighbridge Plan and Elevations 

(August 2016)
 1202 PL0018 Virtual Samples Board (April 2010)
 1506-01-001 Rev O Landscape Scheme (August 2016)
 1506-01-002 Rev J Soft Landscape Details (August 2016)
 1506-01-003 Rev G Hard Landscape Details (August 2016)
 Figure 12: Transport Assessment – Proposed Site Access 

Arrangements and Internal HGV Queuing Space (August 2016)
 50052200 Rev 0.0 Section on GLD Indicating Base, Louvre and 

Capping Detail (September 2014);

b) The operator shall ensure that the amount of wastes treated at the facility 
hereby approved does not exceed 230,000 tonnes per year;

c) No material shall be accepted at the site directly from members of the 
public, and no retail sales of waste or processed materials to members of 
the public shall take place at the site;

Highway Safety and Access
d) The only means of access and egress to the site shall be from Oak Drive as 

shown in drawing number 1204 PL003 Rev F ‘Proposed Site Plan and 
Figure 12: Transport Assessment – Proposed Site Access Arrangements 
and Internal HGV Queuing Space (August 2016);

e) The route to be used for vehicular access during operation of the 
development hereby approved shall only be in accordance with the 
document titled: 'Site Operational Travel Plan', dated April 2016; 

f) All loads of waste materials carried on HGV into and out of the 
development hereby approved shall be enclosed or covered so as to 
prevent spillage or loss of material at the site or on to the public highway;

Page 30



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

g) Heavy goods vehicles associated with operation of the development 
hereby approved shall only enter or exit the site between 06:00 hours and 
19:00 hours;

h) The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the 
document titled: 'Hard Standing Construction Details', dated May 2016. The 
driveway, parking for site operatives and visitors and vehicular turning 
spaces shall be retained and kept available for those uses at all times;

Materials, Design and Layout 
i) The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the 

document titled: 'Condition 12 Colour Study', by Studio E LLP, dated April 
2014. The curtain walling, glazing and mesh shall be as shown on the 
approved drawing titled: 'Virtual Samples Board', numbered: 1204 PL0018, 
dated April 2010; and the following samples submitted to the County 
Planning Authority on 26 March and 15 April 2014:-

 Cladding Material A and B – Vertically orientated trapezoidal panel, 
Ref: Euroclad 32/1000 Reverse, Corus HPS200 Ultra; 

 Wall Cladding Material C – Colour coated composite steel cladding 
panels, Ref: Eurobond Rockspan; 

 Stack colour – Colorcoat HPS200 Ultra, Albatross colour; 
 Building Base Plinth – Staffordshire Slate Blue Engineering Brick; 
 Flat Roofing – Single ply membrane system, Ref: FLAG, FLAGON 

EP/PR RAL 7012; and 
 Fencing – Weld mesh security fencing, polyester powder coated 

green by Zaun Limited;

Landscaping
j) The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with 

drawing number: 1506-01-001 Rev O, titled: 'Landscape Scheme'; drawing 
number: 1506-01-002 Rev J, titled: 'Soft Landscape Details'; and drawing 
number: 1506-01-003 Rev G, titled: 'Hard Landscape Details'. Any plants 
which within five years of planting or seeding die, are removed, damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a 
similar size and species; 

k) The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the 
document tilted: 'Condition 15: Soil Management Plan', by Axis, dated March 
2014;

Lighting
l) The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with 

document titled 'Condition 16: Operational Lighting Scheme', dated August 
2016; and amended drawing numbered: P-3225, DBS-ROH-70080401, Rev 2.2, 
titled 'External Lighting LUX Plot – Overall', as amended by drawing 
numbered: DBS-AFN-70080398, Revision 1.1, titled: 'External Lighting'. No 
lighting or illumination shall be affixed to or emitted from the chimney stack 
higher than the level of the boiler house roof. Any lighting that is fixed to the 
chimney stack shall relate to emissions monitoring only and shall be 
switched off when not in use. The approved scheme shall be implemented 
for the duration of the development;

Page 31



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Nature Conservation Management Plan
m) The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with 

document titled: 'Condition 17 Nature Conservation Management Plan', 
Version 4, by Argus Ecology, as amended by Figure 2: 'Landscape Plan', and 
drawing number: 1506-01-001 Rev O, titled: 'Landscape Scheme'. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented for the duration of the development;

Pollution
n) Clean, uncontaminated rock, subsoil, brick rubble, crushed concrete and 

ceramic only shall be permitted as infill materials;

Emissions
o) The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with 

document titled: 'Vehicle Alarms' dated May 2016. Only such approved 
alarms shall be used for the duration of the development;

p) All vehicles, plant and machinery operated solely within the site shall be 
maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's specification at all 
times, this shall include the fitting and use of effective silencers;

q) The development shall be carried out in accordance with document titled: 
'Dust Management Plan', dated April 2016. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented for the duration of the development;

r) All doors to the building shall be kept closed except to allow entry and 
exit;

s) No handling, deposit, processing, storage or transfer of waste shall take 
place outside the confines of the building hereby approved with the 
exception of the movement of Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA) from the ash 
bay to IBA disposal lorries. The IBA disposal lorries must only receive IBA 
when parked adjacent to the ash bay illustrated on drawing 1204-PL003 
Rev A and 1204-PL005 rev B (or subsequently approved revised drawings 
which illustrate the location of the ash bay);

Noise
t) Throughout duration of operations of the development hereby approved 

noise from the site shall not exceed the levels set out below at the receptor 
locations identified at Figure 12.1 of the Environmental Statement, Volume 
1, Main Report when measured in terms of an LAeq 1 hr level (free field) 
based on the BS4142 rating levels plus 5dB, between the hours of 07.00 
and 22.00:

 Manor Lane: LAeq, 1-hour 37 dB.
 Crown Lane: LAeq, 1-hour 46 dB.
 Walton Road: LAeq, 1-hour 39 dB.
 Ryeland Lane: LAeq, 1-hour 35 dB;

u) Throughout operation of the development hereby approved noise from the 
site shall not exceed the levels set out below at the receptor locations 
identified at Figure 12.1 of the Environmental Statement, Volume 1, Main 

Page 32



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Report when measured in terms of night time criteria levels (5-minutes), 
based on the BS4142 rating level plus 5dB between the hours of 22.00 and 
07.00:

 Manor Lane: LAeq, 5-min 35dB
 Crown Lane: LAeq, 5-min 39dB
 Walton Road: LAeq, 5 min 35dB.
 Ryeland Lane: LAeq, 5-min 35 dB;

v) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
the documents titled: 'Condition 28 - Noise Monitoring', dated May 2016 
and 'Noise Compliance Report', dated 10 February 2017. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented for the duration of the development;

Drainage
w) There shall be no discharge of foul or contaminated drainage from the 

development hereby permitted into either the groundwater or any surface 
waters, whether direct or via soakaways;

x) Surface water from vehicle parking and hard standing areas shall be 
passed through an interceptor of adequate capacity prior to discharge. 
Roof drainage shall not be passed through any interceptor;

y) Soakaways shall only be used in areas on site where they would not 
present risk to groundwater;

z) Water pipes used to serve the development shall not be susceptible to 
residual contamination on the site and buried services must be laid within 
a 0.5m surround of clean sand in areas of ash and graphite fill; 

aa)The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with 
document titled: 'Mercia EnviRecover EfW – Drainage Design Statement', 
Numbered: 50041038 Rev 2.0, dated 28 November 2016. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented for the duration of the development;

bb)The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with 
document titled: 'Ordinary Watercourse Maintenance Scheme', dated May 
2016. The approved scheme shall be implemented for the duration of the 
development;

Other Matters
cc)The operator shall maintain the connection to the district network to 

enable electricity generated by the facility to be supplied to the district 
network; 

dd)On permanent cessation of the development hereby approved, the 
operator shall inform the County Planning Authority within 30 days in 
writing that all operations have ceased. Thereafter the site shall be 
restored within a period of 24 months in accordance with a scheme to be 
submitted for the written approval of the County Planning Authority prior 
to the cessation of operations. This shall include for the removal of all 

Page 33



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

buildings, chimney stack, associated plant, machinery, waste and 
processed materials from the site; and

ee)The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with 
document titled: 'Condition 39 Great Crested Newt Mitigation Strategy, 
Version 2', dated January 2013; as amended by document titled: 'LICENCE 
– Mitigation Licencing', Natural England ref: 2014-3824-EPS-MIT-2, dated 18 
June 2015; Document titled: 'E3.2 Hartlebury EnviRecover – Note on minor 
alterations to site layout required to facilitate diversion of existing surface 
drainage pipes', dated 21 April 2015; Figure 2: 'Landscape Plan', drawing 
number: 1506-01-001 Rev O, titled: 'Landscape Scheme'; drawing 
numbered: E4a revised, titled: 'Amphibian Exclusion Fence Plan', dated 1 
December 2014; and document titled: 'Ecological Clerk of Works', 
Numbered: ESPM 2012-4686 D, 2014-3824-EPS-MIT, produced by Stewart 
Rampling MCIEEM. 

Contact Points

County Council Contact Points
County Council: 01905 763763
Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765

Specific Contact Points for this report
Case Officer: Steven Aldridge, Team Leader – Development Management 
Tel: 01905 843510
Email: saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk  

Mark Bishop, Development Manager:
Tel: 01905 844463
Email: mabishop@worcestershire.gov.uk

Background Papers

In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and 
Economy) the following are the background papers relating to the subject matter of this 
report: 

The application, plans and consultation replies in file reference: 18/000057/CM. 

Page 34

mailto:saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mabishop@worcestershire.gov.uk


Application made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to 
vary condition 3 of planning permission reference: 10/000032/CM (as amended) to increase the 
throughput of the EnviRecover Energy from Waste (EfW) Facility from 200,000 to 230,000 tonnes 
per annum at Mercia EnviRecover, Plot H600, Oak Drive, Hartlebury Trading Estate, Hartlebury, 
Worcestershire. Ref: 18/000057/CM 

The Site 

Scheduled 
Monuments  

New House 
Farm Quarry 

Waresley 
Quarry / Landfill 

Hartlebury 
Quarry / Landfill 

Restored 
Landfill 

Entrance to 
Trading Estate 

Waresley 
Brickworks 

Hartlebury 
Brickworks 

Waresley 
Park 

Hartlebury 

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to 
vary condition 3 of planning permission reference: 10/000032/CM (as amended) to increase the 
throughput of the EnviRecover Energy from Waste (EfW) Facility from 200,000 to 230,000 tonnes 
per annum at Mercia EnviRecover, Plot H600, Oak Drive, Hartlebury Trading Estate, Hartlebury, 
Worcestershire. Ref: 18/000057/CM 

The Site 

Site Access 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM 6
 

Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
26 MARCH 2019

PROPOSED PINVIN JUNCTION HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS 
AT PINVIN JUNCTION (JUNCTION BETWEEN A44, A4104 
AND B4082), PINVIN, NEAR PERSHORE, 
WORCESTERSHIRE

Applicant
Worcestershire County Council

Local Member
Mrs E B Tucker

Purpose of Report

1. To consider an application under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning Regulations 1992 for proposed Pinvin Junction highway improvements at 
Pinvin Junction (Junction between A44, A4104 and B4082), Pinvin, near Pershore, 
Worcestershire. 

Background

2. The Pershore Infrastructure Improvements Project would upgrade the links 
between Pershore town centre and the A44 to address issues of congestion on the 
A44 and improve access to employment and new housing areas. The project 
comprises three key scheme elements:

 The construction of a Northern Link Road, approximately 420 metres in 
length. This would provide a direct link between the existing A44 / B4083 
roundabout (north of the Worcester to Oxford railway line) and the B4083 
roundabout (south of the railway line). The Link Road would provide a direct 
connection between the Keytec Business Park and the A44. This requires 
planning permission from the County Planning Authority 

 Improvements to the A44 Pinvin Crossroads junction (which is the subject of 
this planning application) to complement the delivery of the Northern Link 
Road by prioritising the A44 link and thus reducing the green signal time on 
Terrace Road (A4104). This would reinforce the proposed Northern Link Road 
as the main north to south route between Pershore and the A44 

 Modifications to the junction of A4104 (Station Road) and B4083 (Wyre Road) 
junction to prioritise the Station Road (south) to Wyre Road movement. This 
would also reinforce the proposed Northern Link Road as the main north to 
south route between Pershore and the A44. This would benefit from permitted 
development rights, falling under Schedule 2, Part 9 of The Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 

Page 39



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

amended) and, therefore, would not require the submission of a formal 
planning application. 

The Proposal

3. Worcestershire County Council is seeking to undertake highway infrastructure 
improvements at Pinvin Junction, near Pershore, Worcestershire. The proposed 
scheme seeks to improve the traffic flow at the junction and comprise junction 
widening and signal alterations to the existing signal controlled Pinvin Crossroads 
junction. The scheme design would complement the proposed Pershore Northern 
Link Road by prioritising the flow of traffic along A44 and thus reducing the green 
signal time on Terrace Road (A4014). A planning application for the proposed 
Pershore Northern Road is scheduled to be submitted to the County Planning 
Authority in early 2019. 

4. Worcestershire County Council states that the proposed scheme is a 
component of the Pershore Infrastructure Improvement Project (see 'Background' 
Section of this report), which has been developed in response to increasing traffic 
volumes and development pressures in Pershore and the surrounding area. 

5. The proposed development comprises the following: 

 Moving the alignment of the B4082 (Main Street) approach to allow for 
future concurrent running of the side roads in the same stage, with 
opposed right turns. Single straight-ahead lanes on the A44 would be 
retained on the eastbound carriageway 

 The existing right turn onto the B4082 (Main Street) and the corresponding 
left turn would be facilitated by a short junction link, and, therefore, these 
movements would be taken out of the existing signal-controlled junction. 
The new junction link would involve the construction a short section of 
road measuring approximately 50 metres onto adjacent agricultural land, 
to the east of B4082 (Main Street)

 Optimisation of the method of signal control to provide greater junction 
capacity 

 The extension of the existing A44 eastbound right turn lane (towards the 
A4104) increasing the capacity for this movement and facilitating access 
to the residential properties on the south side of the A44, and 

 New areas of highway, footway, controlled signals including pedestrian 
crossings and uncontrolled pedestrian crossings. 

6. The highway lighting is proposed to be upgraded throughout the scheme to 
meet the current British Standards. The applicant states that the proposed lighting 
improvements would not extend further than the existing provision with the 
exception of the A44 to the west where the lighting would need to be extended by 
around 50 metres to provide adequate illumination of the junction and its approach. 
It is expected the lighting columns would not exceed 10 metres in height along the 
A44 and would be within the vicinity of the signalised junction. A reduced mounting 

Page 40



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

height on the A4104 and B4082 would be provided given the reduced carriageway 
widths and presence of residential properties.

7. The proposal requires the removal of 4 trees, 3 hedgerow trees and 
approximately 80 metres in length of native hedgerow within the site as well as 
shrubs. To ensure compensation for the loss, a new species rich, native hedgerow 
would be provided, measuring approximately 70 metres in length. Areas of native 
tree and scrub planting would be incorporated into the landscape design and 
include: 11 hedgerow trees; 6 individual trees and 130 square metres of native 
shrub mix.

8. The applicant states that as part of the proposal there would be various 
diversions required of statutory undertaker apparatus with most of the diversions 
being minor relocation of utilities into the proposed footways and verges. However, 
there is a significant diversion required at Pinvin Crossroads for the relocation of BT 
Openreach cabling, cabinets and inspection chambers. The applicant has confirmed 
that ongoing discussions are taking place with the affected statutory undertakers.

9. Should planning permission be granted it is anticipated that construction works 
would commence in June 2019 lasting approximately 28 weeks.

The Site

10. The application site, which measures approximately 1.7 hectares in area 
includes Pinvin crossroads and associated surrounding land. The crossroads are 
located approximately 2.3 kilometres north of Pershore town centre and 60 metres 
south of the village of Pinvin at the junction of the A44 with the B4082 and the 
A4104. The application site is relatively flat and is located predominantly within the 
existing public highway, but includes land take of the adjacent agricultural field, 
located to the north-east of the junction. 

11. There are a number of statutory wildlife sites within 4 kilometres of the site. 
The site is located approximately 3 kilometres north-east Tiddesley Wood Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); approximately 3.6 kilometres east of Great 
Blaythorn Meadow SSSI; and approximately 3.7 kilometres south of Naunton Court 
Meadows SSSI. 

12. There are no Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Areas 
(SPA) or Ramsar designations within the vicinity of the proposal, with the nearest 
SAC being Bredon Hill SAC, which is located approximately 5 kilometres south of 
the proposed scheme and is designated for the presence of Violet Click Beetle. 
Lyppard Grange Ponds SAC, designated for its Great Crested Newts population is 
located approximately 10 kilometres north-west of the site.  

13. Bow, Shell, Swan and Seeley Brooks Local Wildlife Site (LWS) is located 
approximately 360 metres south-west of the proposal. The Pinvin Rough LWS, 
Hamdean Farm Meadow LWS and Peopleton Rough LWS are situated about 950 
metres, 1.4 kilometres and 1.4 kilometres north-west of the proposed scheme, 
respectively. Piddle and Whitsun Brooks is located approximately 1.2 kilometres 
east of the scheme, beyond which is the River Avon LWS, situated about 1.5 
kilometres east of the site. 

Page 41



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

14. The nearest Listed Building to the proposed scheme is Moat House Pinvin 
Manor, a Grade II Listed Building located about 390 metres north-east of the 
scheme, with five further Listed Building beyond, including the Grade II* Listed 
Building of Church of St Nicholas, located about 585 metres north-east of the site. 

15. Public Right of Way (Footpath PV-515) is located within the application site on 
the western extent, adjoining Allen's Hill (A44). Footpath PV-529 is located about 20 
metres to the north of the scheme. Footpath PV-528 adjoins the eastern extent of 
the application site, running northwards from Abbey View Road (A44). 

16. The proposed development is located within Flood Zone 1 (low probability of 
flooding) as identified on the Environment Agency's Indicative Flood Risk Map.

17. There are a number of residential properties within the vicinity of the site, 
including the properties in Pinvin, the nearest of which are New House, 26 and 28 
Spion Kop located adjacent to the north of the application site. Further residential 
properties are located along the south side of Allen's Hill (A44) including Claverley, 
Four Gables, Gapree, 2 Allen's Hill and on the north side of Abbey View Road (A44), 
the nearest of which are 1 and 2 Abbey View Road. Further residential properties 
are located to the south of Pinvin Junction along Terrace Road (A4104), including 
Old Cycle House, Old Post Office, 1 to 12 Pershore Terrace, Ravenhurst, Prospect 
House, Melrose, Conifers and Daisy House. 

Summary of Issues

18. The main issues in the determination of this application are:

 Traffic, Highways Safety and Public Rights of Way
 Residential Amenity (including noise)
 Landscape and Visual Impact
 Water Environment
 Ecology and Biodiversity.

Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
19. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was updated on 19 
February 2019 and replaces the previous NPPF published in March 2012 and July 
2018. The NPPF and sets out the government’s planning policies for England and 
how these are expected to be applied. The revised NPPF is a material consideration 
in planning decisions and should be read as a whole (including its footnotes and 
annexes). 

20. Annex 1 of the NPPF states that "the policies in this Framework are material 
considerations which should be taken into account in dealing with applications from 
the day of its publication". 

21. The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development. Achieving sustainable development means 
that the planning system has three overarching objectives (economic, social and 

Page 42



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

environmental), which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each 
of the different objectives).

 an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure 

 a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet 
the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed 
and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect 
current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural 
well-being, and 

 an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, 
helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising 
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including 
moving to a low carbon economy.

22. These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the NPPF; they are not 
criteria against which every decision can or should be judged. Planning policies and 
decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable 
solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the 
character, needs and opportunities of each area.

23. So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the 
NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision taking, this 
means:

 approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 

 where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: 

o the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

24.  The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. 
Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan (including 
any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan), permission should 

Page 43



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take decisions that depart from 
an up-to-date development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular 
case indicate that the plan should not be followed. 

25. The following guidance contained in the NPPF, is considered to be of specific 
relevance to the determination of this planning application:

 Section 2: Achieving sustainable development
 Section 4: Decision-making
 Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy
 Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities
 Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport
 Section 11: Making effective use of land
 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
 Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change
 Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
 Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

The Development Plan
26. The Development Plan is the strategic framework that guides land use planning 
for the area. In this respect, the current Development Plan relevant to this proposal 
consists of the Adopted South Worcestershire Development Plan. 

27. Planning applications should be determined in accordance with the provisions of 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 
is a material consideration in planning decisions.

28. With regard to the weight to be given to existing policies adopted prior to the 
publication of the revised NPPF, Annex 1 states "existing policies should not be 
considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted or made prior to the 
publication of this Framework. Due weight should be given to them, according to their 
degree of consistency with this Framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)". 

South Worcestershire Development Plan
29. The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) covers the administrative 
areas of Worcester City Council, Wychavon District Council and Malvern Hills District 
Council. The SWDP policies that are of relevance to the proposal are set out below:

Policy SWDP 1 Overarching Sustainable Development Principles
Policy SWDP 2 Development Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy 
Policy SWDP 4 Moving Around South Worcestershire 
Policy SWDP 6 Historic Environment 
Policy SWDP 7 Infrastructure 
Policy SWDP 21 Design
Policy SWDP 22 Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy SWDP 24 Management of the Historic Environment
Policy SWDP 25 Landscape Character
Policy SWDP 28 Management of Flood Risk
Policy SWDP 29 Sustainable Drainage Systems 

Page 44



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Policy SWDP 30 Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment
Policy SWDP 31 Pollution and Land Instability
Policy SWDP 47: Pershore Urban Extension 

Other Documents

South Worcestershire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 and 2
30. The South Worcestershire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 and 2 
(SFRA) documents were published in November 2009 and covers Worcester City 
Council, Wychavon District Council, and Malvern Hills District Council areas. The 
SFRA assists in selecting and developing sustainable site allocations away from 
areas of greatest vulnerability to flooding in the South Worcestershire area. The 
SFRA provides guidance for the Local Planning Authorities on the future 
management of development with respect to flood risk, including suggested 
development control policy for the different flood zones. Guidance is also provided 
regarding the requirements for Flood Risk Assessments as well as Sustainable 
Drainage Systems and flood mitigation measures. 

South Worcestershire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 2 Update
31. The South Worcestershire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 2 (SFRA 
Update). SFRA Update was published in December 2012 and updates the 2009 
SFRA. Changes to high level planning, policy and guidance since the previous SFRA 
have been identified and taken into account in preparing the SFRA Update, including 
the NPPF.

South Worcestershire Water Management and Flooding Supplementary 
Planning Document
32. The South Worcestershire Water Management and Flooding Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) was adopted in July 2018 and sets out in detail the South 
Worcestershire Councils' approach to minimising flood risk, managing surface water 
and achieving sustainable drainage systems. This applies to both new and existing 
development whilst ensuring that the reduction, re-use and recycling of water is given 
priority and water supply and quality is not compromised. It relates to policies SWDP 
28 (Management of Flood Risk), SWDP 29 (Sustainable Drainage Systems) and 
SWDP 30 (Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment) of the adopted South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 

South Worcestershire Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
33. The South Worcestershire Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) was adopted in March 2018 and provides additional guidance on how the 
South Worcestershire Development Plan design related policies should be 
interpreted, for example through the design and layout of new development and 
public spaces across South Worcestershire and is consistent with planning policies in 
the South Worcestershire Development Plan, in particular Policy SWDP 21 (Design). 

South Worcestershire Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2016)
34. The South Worcestershire Infrastructure Delivery Plan (SWIDP) was first 
published in November 2012 and updated in October 2014 and July 2016. The 
SWIDP sets out details of the infrastructure that is required to support the growth 
outlined in the South Worcestershire Development Plan. The SWIDP is a “living 
document” in that it is subject to on-going change. Annex I of the adopted South 

Page 45



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Worcestershire Development Plan sets out the list of infrastructure considered 
necessary to deliver the plan. The Councils updated Appendix Y of the SWIDP to 
assist in developing the Community Infrastructure Levey Charging Schedule.  The 
SWIDP remains a technical document informing policy rather than policy per se. 
Appendix Y: 'Appendix on Crucial Infrastructure' includes the Pinvin Crossroad 
scheme.  

Worcestershire's Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) 2018-2030
35. Worcestershire's Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) was adopted November 2017. 
LTP4 sets out an investment programme for Worcestershire's transport networks, 
including infrastructure, and technology and services essential to support planned 
growth, and continued social and economic success. 

36. LTP4 consists of a suite of policies, four statutory assessments and the main 
document, which includes a strategic delivery programme. It sets 5 objectives 
regarding economic, environment, health and safety, equality, and quality of life. It 
also sets out a package of strategic transport schemes, in South Worcestershire this 
includes ID SWST6: Pershore Northern Access Improvements. This states "the 
Pershore Infrastructure Improvements scheme is currently being progressed by 
Worcestershire County Council. An Outline Business Case (Programme Entry) was 
submitted to the Local Transport Body (LTB) in March 2016 for Programme Entry 
Approval. Conditional Approval is planned to be obtained in April 2017. The scheme 
comprises:

 Pershore Northern Link: A new single carriageway road link, providing a critical 
connection between the A44 and B4083 Wyre Road, providing a significantly 
enhanced connection between the A44 and Pershore Town Centre;

 A44 / A4104 / B4082 Pinvin Crossroad Enhancements.

37. The scheme will provide a new north-south route between the A44 and Pershore 
town centre and enable greater priority to be given to the A44 at Pinvin Crossroads. 
The scheme will also provide traffic relief on the A4104 Terrace Road/Station Road 
(north of Wyre Road) and improve connectivity to Keytec Business Park. The scheme 
is also assumed to support the delivery of Pershore’s urban extension, as allocated in 
the South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP)".

Worcestershire Local Enterprise Partnership's World Class Worcestershire Our 
Strategic Economic Plan (SEP)
38. The Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) was published in March 2014 and sets out 
the LEP's vision and strategic framework, which is to ensure that Worcestershire's 
economy grows even more rapidly and makes an increasingly important contribution 
to the national economy. The SEP aims to grow the local economy by 2025 by 
generating over 25,000 jobs and to increase GVA by £2.9 billion. 

39. The SEP sets three objectives:

 Create a World Class business location 
 Provide individuals with World Class Skills, and
 Develop World Class competitive and innovative business. 

40. The SEP sets out integrated programme areas, which comprise prioritised 
projects and initiatives to meet these objectives. Transport Investment Programme is 

Page 46



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

an initiative identified within the SEP to meet the objective of 'create a World Class 
business location'. The SEP recognises that "additional investment in 
Worcestershire's transport infrastructure and services is essential to provide business 
with improved access to markets and employees and to encourage economic 
growth". The SEP states that "transport investment will be targeted to unlock the 
potential of key employment and housing sites to support the overall growth vision. 
Investment will also improve external linkages (with neighbouring sub-regions and 
international gateways to enhance access to national and global markets) and 
enhance accessibility between key economic centres within the LEP area to 
accommodate the travel demand associated with the growth aspirations".

41. The SEP contains a table, titled:  showing transport and infrastructure schemes 
for Worcestershire. The table includes "Pershore Northern Relief Road and Pinvin 
Cross Roads" (Scheme No. 10). The rationale for the scheme includes - enabling 
access to Strategic Employment Land across three sites, accelerating the delivery of 
housing units on three sites, and relieving traffic around Pershore to enable growth.

Consultations

42. County Councillor Liz Tucker strongly supports the proposal stating that not 
only would it reduce the severe congestion at Pinvin Crossroads, but it is an essential 
part of the larger project to build Pershore Northern Link.  Pershore Northern Link 
Road would take a railway bridge from the A44 Abbey View roundabout Pinvin across 
to the Keytec 7 roundabout Pershore.  It would become the main route into Pershore 
from the north and avoid the traffic holdups on Terrace Road.

43. Pinvin Parish Council supports the proposal. 

44. Drakes Broughton and Wadborough Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish 
Council) supports the proposal but consider the scheme should be extended to 
include the staggered crossroads at Peopleton onto Stonebow Road, Drakes 
Broughton, as this is a dangerous junction with poor visibility and would benefit from a 
speed review as a minimum. 

45. Hill and Moor Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) supports the 
proposal. 

46. Peopleton Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) has made no 
comments. 

47. Pershore Town Council (Neighbouring Town Council) has made no 
comments. 

48. Wyre Piddle Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) has made no 
comments. 

49. Wychavon District Council has no objections to the proposal, subject to the 
imposition of a condition requiring the development to be carried out in accordance 
with the recommendations of the submitted Ecological Report. The District Council 
also recommends consultation with the County Highways Officer and draws the 

Page 47



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

County Planning Authority's attention to a letter of representation that was submitted 
to the District Council objecting to the proposal. 

50. Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Noise Officer) has no objections in 
relation to noise impacts, stating that the submitted noise assessment predicts that 
additional noise from the proposed highway improvements should not adversely 
impact existing sensitive receptors in the area.  Also, no property owners would be 
eligible for additional sound insulation under The Noise Insulation Regulations 1975 
(as amended).

51. Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Contaminated Land Officer) has no 
objections, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring an investigation, risk 
assessment and remediation scheme being undertaken in the event of contamination 
being discovered that was not previously identified; and results of contamination 
testing of any soils brought onto the site.

52. They state that the submitted reports (Preliminary Sources Study Report and 
Design Philosophy Statement) identify potential sources of contamination. The 
greatest risk of contamination is considered to be on the site from former road 
surfaces potentially containing coal tars, in addition there is considered to be a low 
risk from pesticides on the agricultural land. The reports recommend during 
construction samples are taken for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) and 
pesticide testing and chemically testing of excavated material at one sample per 50 
cubic metres.

53. Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Air Quality Officer) has no objections to 
the proposal. 

54. The County Ecologist has no objections to the proposal, subject to the 
imposition of conditions requiring a native planting scheme, and a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for biodiversity. The County Ecologist also 
requests additional information regarding the proposed lighting scheme.

55. Worcestershire Wildlife Trust has no objections to the proposal and wishes to 
defer to the County Ecologist for all on-site detailed ecological considerations. 

56. The County Landscape Officer has no objections to the proposal, subject to the 
imposition of a condition requiring a schedule of landscape maintenance. The 
schedule shall include details of the arrangements for its implementation, species mix 
and measures for monitoring and replacement planting should they fail. 

57. The County Landscape Officer states that overall, he has no major concerns, with 
the proposal, given that it is within the context of an existing highway junction and 
constitutes a remodelling of existing infrastructure that is relatively contained and, 
therefore, would not impose a significant change to the existing landscape setting.

58. The County Landscape Officer welcomes the proposals to mitigate hedgerow and 
tree removal with the new planting proposed. However, he raises concerns that the 
proposed Blackthorn is quick growing and can become dominant over time and, 
therefore, recommends consultation with the County Ecologist regarding the use of 
Blackthorn in the planting scheme. 

Page 48



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

59. The County Highways Officer has no objections to the proposal, stating that the 
proposal would an improvement to this junction for motorists, pedestrians and cyclists 
and as such the scheme is beneficial to the highway network. The proposal is 
promoted as a standalone improvement but has also been assessed with Pershore 
Northern Link Road (which would also require planning permission from the County 
Planning Authority), this also indicates significant improvements to the performance of 
the junction. Given the proposal is not associated with any other formal of 
development and the applicant is the Highway Authority, it is not considered 
necessary to require any conditions in this instance.

60. The County Footpath Officer has no objections to the proposal, stating that the 
proposal is adjacent to Public Rights of Way (Footpaths PV-515, 528 & 529). The 
Footpath Officer considers that the proposal would have no detrimental effect on the 
Footpaths, subject to the applicant adhering to their obligations to the Public Rights of 
Way. 

61. The Ramblers Association has made no comments.   

62. The Open Space Society has made no comments

63. The Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) wishes to make no comments 
on the application. 

64. The District Archaeologist has no objections to the proposal.  

65. The County Archaeologist has no objections to the proposal. 

66. South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership has made no comments. 

67. The Lead Local Flood Authority has no objections to the proposal, subject to 
the imposition of conditions requiring a detailed drainage strategy and Sustainable 
Drainage Scheme (SuDS) management plan. 

68. Severn Trent Water Limited has no objections to the proposal, noting that the 
proposed development would have minimal impact on the public sewerage system.

69. Severn Trent Water advises that there are public sewers located within the 
application site. Public sewers have statutory protection and may not be built close to, 
directly over or be diverted without their consent. The applicant should contact Severn 
Trent Water to discuss the proposed works and their requirements.  

70. Severn Trent Water also notes that there is a sewage pumping station within the 
application site and any new development must not restrict access to the pumping 
station. Severn Trent Water requires access to the pumping station at all times in 
order to complete any programmed routine maintenance tasks and also for any 
emergency reactive visits in case of failure. 

71. Wales and West Utilities has no objections to the proposal, stating that their 
records show that pipes owned by Wales and West Utilities in its role as a Licensed 
Gas Transporter are located within the application site, running along the public 
highway.  Should planning permission be approved, they request that the applicant 
contacts them prior to works commencing to discuss their requirements.  

Page 49



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

72. Western Power Distribution comments that their apparatus is located within 
and adjacent to the application site (electricity); the use of mechanical excavators in 
the vicinity of their apparatus should be kept to a minimum. Any excavations in the 
vicinity of their apparatus should be carried out in accordance with the document 
titled: 'Health & Safety Executive Guidance HS(G)47, Avoiding Danger from 
Underground Services'. The applicant should contact Western Power Distribution to 
discuss their proposals. 

73. British Telecom (BT) Openreach has made no comments. 

74. Hereford & Worcester Fire and Rescue Service has made no comments.  

75. West Mercia Police has no objections to the proposal, stating that the proposals 
are a significant improvement to the current layout. 

Other Representations

76. Prior to the submission of the planning application, the applicant undertook public 
consultation on the proposal and the forthcoming Pershore Northern Link Road 
proposal between November and December 2017 lasting 8 weeks. Four staffed 
public information exhibitions events took place between 9 November and 29 
November 2017, which were held in Pershore High School, Pershore Co-op and 
Pershore Town Hall. One unstaffed exhibition was displayed at Pershore Library from 
13 November to 24 December 2017. Posters were distributed in key locations in the 
area to promote the exhibitions in advance of them taking place. Two press releases 
were issued during November 2017 to promote the engagement exercise and 
exhibitions. Emails were distributed to key stakeholders (which included Wychavon 
District Council, Pershore High School, Worcestershire County Association of Local 
Councils) signposting them to the dedicated scheme consultation webpage. In total 
13 responses were received on topics covering: design of footpaths, filter lanes and 
traffic flow; speed limits and deterrents; walking and cycling infrastructure provision; 
Terrace Road; configuration and design of the Pinvin crossroad; pedestrian 
crossings; Mill Lane egress; environmental impacts; signage and routing of traffic. 
The applicant states that overall there was support for the proposal.  

77. As a result of the consultation exercises the applicant has amended the proposal 
as follows:

 A Zebra Crossing was originally proposed on Terrace Road. It was removed 
following public consultation revealed that the residents would not support the 
removal of valuable parking provision through the implementation of the 
controlled area Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) 

 The junction alignment at Pinvin Crossroads was realigned to discourage 
vehicles carrying excessive speed on the A44 to the B4082, and further non-
motorised user facilities have been provided following consultation. 

The application has been advertised in the press, on site and by neighbour 
notification. To date 2 letters of representation objecting to the proposal and 1 letter 
commenting on the proposal have been received. These letters of representation are 

Page 50



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

available in the Members' Support Unit. Their main comments are summarised 
below:

Traffic
 Request that Pershore Northern Link Road is in place before Pinvin Junction is 

altered. 
 Objects to the increased maximum speed limit on Main Street and Pinvin on 

highway safety grounds.
 Requests a signalised pedestrian crossing on Abbey View Road (A44) instead of 

the proposed uncontrolled crossing with pedestrian refuge.
 Concerned that this proposal simply reconfigures what is already in place and 

does not provide any significant highway improvement.
 Consider that all emerging traffic from Pinvin going east, west or south should be 

directed around Abbey View roundabout, which should become the main focus of 
traffic distribution for the entire area.

 Question whether the A44 east and westbound carriageways are running 
together under the revised traffic signals, as they consider this is the critical 
constraint issue at present. 

 Concerned regarding the proposed right turn from A44 westbound to B4082 with 
access arrangements onto B4082 would have sufficient capacity to prevent 
capacity constraint. 

The Development Manager's Comments

78. The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be read in 
conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Section 
38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine planning applications in 
accordance with the development plan, unless there are material circumstances 
which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides that in determining applications the 
local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, 
so far as material to the application and to any other material considerations.

79. As stated at paragraph reference ID: 21b-006-20140306 of the Government's 
Planning Practice Guidance, "the NPPF stresses the importance of having a planning 
system that is genuinely plan-led. Where a proposal accords with an up-to-date 
development plan it should be approved without delay, as required by the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development at paragraph 10 of the NPPF".

80. The reason why the Development Plan is at the heart of the planning system is 
because it is the forum where the need for new development is identified, and also 
where it would be inappropriate. The plan would have been through public 
consultation and would have been subject of independent examination. The 
Development Plan relevant to this proposal consists of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan.

81. Policy SWDP 47: 'Pershore Urban Extension' of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan states that "within the areas identified on the Policies Map, two 
sustainable, well-designed urban extensions are proposed. These sites will come 
forward in accordance with the requirements in A & B". Part A: 'SWDP47/1 Land to 

Page 51



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

the North of Pershore (37.4ha)' states "on three parcels of land to the west of Station 
Road, south of Wyre Road and north of the junction of Station Road and Wyre Road, 
the delivery of approximately 695 new homes to include capacity enhancement of the 
Pinvin Road junction and, if justified, a new link road between Wyre Road and the 
A44".

82. The Reasoned Justification for this policy states that "in directing development to 
the north of the town it is important that infrastructure improvements are secured. 
These include improvements to the Pinvin crossroads junction (this proposal) and 
other locations on the A44 (a key link between Pershore and both the M5 and A46 
Trunk Road). The provision of the Northern Link Road from the A44 / Wyre Piddle 
bypass roundabout to Keytec 7 Business Park has strong local support and may also 
be delivered".

83. The Reasoned Justification in Policy SWDP 46: 'Pershore' of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan also identifies a need for infrastructure 
improvements at Pinvin crossroads (this proposal), public transport enhancements 
and local support for the link road between Wyre Road and the A44 bypass (Pershore 
Northern Link Road).

84. In view of the policy support for this proposal, the Development Manager 
considers that the need for and the principle of the scheme has been established. 

Traffic, Highway Safety and Public Rights of Way
85. It is noted that Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states "development should only be 
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe". 

86. Access to / from Pershore is via Terrace Road (A4104) to the south of the Pinvin 
junction. This is a single carriageway road, passing through a mixture of residential 
dwellings and industrial estates, with a speed limit of 30mph. To the north, Main 
Street (B4082) provides access to / from Pinvin. This is also a single carriageway 
road passing through a residential area, with a speed limit of 30mph. The Pinvin 
junction is situated on the A44 which provides an east-west corridor connecting 
Worcester (to the west) and Evesham (to the east). The westbound A44 also provides 
access to the M5 Motorway for north and south trips to destinations such as 
Birmingham (to the north), Gloucester and Bristol (to the south). The A44 is a single 
carriageway road, which flares to 2 lanes at the junction. The speed limit is 40mph on 
both sides of the junction but increases to national speed limit further back from the 
junction to the west.

87. The proposed changes to the junction include the removal of the stagger to 
create a conventional crossroads layout. This would be achieved by realigning the 
Main Street (B4082) arm to enter the junction opposite Terrace Road (A4104), with a 
new short link road provided to the east of Main Street (B4082). This link road would 
be used by vehicles approaching from the east (along Abbey View Road) towards 
Pinvin Village and from vehicles from Pinvin Village traveling eastwards along Abbey 
View Road (A44).  Main Street (B4082) is proposed to be widened to have a two-lane 
entrance to the junction, with the nearside lane for ahead movements only and the 
offside lane for right movements only. The alignment of Terrace Road (A4104) would 
not be changed significantly, with just some kerb line changes proposed to introduce 

Page 52



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

a larger turning radius from Abbey View Road (A44). Allen's Hill (A44) would be 
widened into the grass verge, the existing 2 lanes realigned along the new kerb line 
and a splitter island introduced in the middle of the carriageway. Abbey View Road 
(A44) would have a dedicated right turn flare lane, which would measure 
approximately 60 metres long to facilitate vehicles to turn right and travel along the 
proposed new short link road. This would replace the existing right lane up to the 
stop-line at the crossroads. 

88. The application was accompanied by the Transport Assessment which assessed 
the proposal development in isolation and also with the operation of the Pershore 
Northern Link Road. The Transport Assessment states that the existing junction is 
operating over capacity on all arms in both the AM (08:00 to 09:00 hours) and PM 
(17:00 to 18:00 hours) peak hours. In forecast modelling scenarios, capacity 
assessments show the junction to experience reduced capacity, larger queues and 
vehicles delays in 2019 and 2021. 

89. The Transport Assessment states that the proposed development once 
operational would not directly generate additional vehicle movements, however, the 
additional capacity the proposed scheme would provide, makes the proposed scheme 
a more attractive route compared to other busier alternatives. Consequently, there 
would be a reassignment of trips to this area from elsewhere on the highway network. 
The wider area net trip impact would be zero, and the scheme would not only benefit 
Pinvin, but the wider highway network by taking trips from other congested routes / 
junctions.

90. The Transport Assessment states that the proposed development allows the 
junction to operate within capacity. In summary, the modelling result for 2019 peak 
periods indicate vehicle hours with the proposed scheme would reduce in both peaks. 
Vehicle kilometres would also decrease slightly in both peak periods, and average 
speed increases by 20.3% in the AM peak and 6.7% in the PM peak. Delays at the 
junction decrease significantly by 64% in the AM peak and by 62% in the PM peak. 
The results include committed developments, and the associated increase in traffic 
flows.

91. The Transport Assessment also assessed the proposed scheme in operation with 
the proposed Pershore Northern Link Road (subject to planning permission) in 2021. 
The Assessment states that vehicle hours and vehicle kilometres would reduce for 
both peak periods. Average speed increases in both peak periods, with an increase 
by 5.2% in the AM peak and 5.9% in the PM peak. Delays at Pinvin crossroads 
significantly decrease by 56% in the AM peak and 57% in the PM peak.

92. Non-motorised users would also benefit from the proposed development, with 
additional signal-controlled crossing points provided for pedestrians and an extended 
footway along the southern side of Abbey View Road (A44) to provide a connection to 
the trading estate. Advanced cycle stop lines would also be provided for cyclists. The 
scope for provision of off-road cycle facilities is limited at the Pinvin crossroads due to 
existing site constraints. 

93. In response to a letter of representation stating that Pershore Northern Link Road 
should be constructed before Pinvin junction is amended and the proposal only 
reconfigures the existing junction and does not provide any significant improvement. 
The applicant states that "the improvement at Pinvin junction is the initial phase of the 

Page 53



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

overall improvement scheme with the Northern Link Road. Improvements to Pinvin 
can be delivered much sooner than the Northern Link Road and enable road users to 
benefit sooner. It would provide significant reduction in delays to vehicles and 
improve performance until the Northern Link Road in place to complete the overall 
improvement package of measures. The capacity modelling results for 2019 without 
and with the proposal over the peak periods shows significant improvements to the 
operation of the Pinvin junction. The strategic modelling results clearly show that the 
scheme will increase the throughput of traffic through the junction and benefit the 
current and future movements". 

94. In response to a letter of representation questioning whether the A44 east and 
westbound carriageways are running together under the revised traffic signals and 
raising concern that the proposed right turn from A44 westbound to B4082 would 
have sufficient capacity. The applicant states that "the existing traffic signals runs the 
A44 east and then the A44 west in different stages, both stages require high green 
times because each of these arms contain heavy traffic flows, this creates a 
constraint on the efficiency of the junction. The proposed layout allows the traffic 
signals to operate the A44 east and west movements to together, this occurs in both 
stage sequence 1 or 3 of the signals, this change saves green time and make the 
junction operate more efficiently. In terms of the proposed right turn from the A44 
westbound to the B4082, the modelling results show small queues and delays on the 
link and, therefore, there is sufficient available capacity".  

95. In response to a letter of representation raising concern regarding the increased 
maximum speed limit on Main Street and Pinvin on highway safety grounds. The 
applicant states that "the designers considered locating the commencement of the 30 
mph speed limit close to the junction with the A44 as is the existing situation. 
However, it has been decided that speed limit signage near to the proposed traffic 
lights may be difficult to distinguish within the junction and amongst the other street 
furniture which includes direction signage, pedestrian guardrails, traffic signal poles, 
coloured road surfaces and bollards. Instead it has been decided that a 'gateway' 
feature (similar to the existing one on Main Street) with red screed and a '30' roundel 
painted on the road would be more effective in reinforcing the 30 mph speed limit as 
motorists enter the residential village of Pinvin. The designers anticipate that the 
majority of traffic would observe speed limits and note that exceeding the proposed 
speed limits would be difficult due to the road geometry. The visibility available from 
the cul-de-sac junction to approaching northbound traffic would be 53 metres. This is 
in accordance with the Department for Transport’s ‘Manual for Streets’ for traffic 
travelling at speeds of approximately 34 mph.

96. In response to a request that to install a signalised pedestrian crossing on Abbey 
View Road (A44) in lieu of the proposed uncontrolled crossing with pedestrian refuge. 
The applicant states that "the proposed improvement works would provide a new 
signalised crossing for pedestrians to cross the A44 near to Main Street and Terrace 
Road where the majority of non-motorised users of the highway cross the road. The 
proposed scheme would improve the non-motorised user facilities by providing a new 
footway on the south side of the A44 where pedestrians have been observed walking 
in the existing grass verge. To enhance connectivity, the two new pedestrian refuges 
would be provided in the bell mouth of the access to the industrial units and on the 
A44. This would improve safety for pedestrians as they would be able to make the 
road crossings in two separate stages. However, a survey of non-motorised users 

Page 54



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

that was undertaken suggests that usage of these pedestrian refuges would be too 
low to justify an additional controlled crossing on the A44 in this location.

97. The County Highways Officer has been consulted and has raised no objections to 
the proposal, stating that the proposal would an improvement to the highway network. 
The proposal is promoted as a standalone improvement but has also been assessed 
with Pershore Northern Link Road; this also indicates significant improvements to the 
performance of the junction. 

98. There is one Public Right of Way located adjacent to the application site 
(Footpath PV-515). The applicant has confirmed that it would remain unaffected by 
the proposed works. The County Footpath Officer has been consulted and has raised 
no objections to the proposal, subject to the applicant adhering to their obligations to 
the Public Rights of Way. The Ramblers Association and Open Space Society have 
both made no comments on the proposal. 

99. In view of the above matters, the Development Manager considers that the 
proposal would result in immediate capacity improvements to the Pinvin junction and 
is satisfied that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact upon traffic, 
highway safety or Public Rights of Way. 

Visual Impact and Residential Amenity 
100. There are a number of residential properties within the vicinity of the site, 
including the properties in Pinvin. Further residential properties are located along the 
south side of Allen's Hill (A44) and on the north side of Abbey View Road (A44). 
Further residential properties are located to the south of Pinvin Junction along 
Terrace Road (A4104). 

101. The application was accompanied by a Noise Assessment that assessed the 
change in noise levels at 37 Spion Kop, which is located to the north-east of Pinvin 
junction and is the closest to the proposed new short link road. This dwelling was 
identified by the Assessment as the one most likely to experience a change in noise 
levels. The Assessment concludes that there is predicted to be an increase in noise 
of about 0.4 dB(A), which would be a magnitude of negligible and would not be a 
significant effect. In relation to the Noise Insulation Regulations, the predicted noise 
level at this dwelling is below the qualifying level of 68 dB LA10,18h (predicted to be 
58 dB(A) LA10,18h), and would, therefore, not be negligible. 

102. Worcestershire Regulatory Services has been consulted in respect of noise and 
air quality impacts and raises no objections to the proposal. Wychavon District 
Council has also raised no objections to the proposal. 

103. The most perceivable visual change as part of this application is considered to 
be the realignment of Main Street (B4082) and the construction of a new short link 
road to the east of Main Street. The proposed scheme would require the removal of 4 
trees (3 located to the west of Main Street (B4082) and 1 located east of Terrace 
Road (A4104)), 3 hedgerow trees (located immediately to the north of Abbey View 
Road (A44) and east of Main Street (B4082)) and approximately 80 linear metres of 
native hedgerow (located on the eastern side of Main Street (B4082) and north of 
Abbey View Road (A44)). To compensate for the loss, the applicant is proposing to 
plant a new section of species rich hedgerow (located to the east of the proposed 
new link road), this would measure approximately 70 linear metres. Areas of native 

Page 55



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

tree and scrub planting would be incorporated into the landscape design to 
compensate for any loss of trees and vegetation as a result of the proposal. The area 
of replanting would be enhanced and would include approximately 11 hedgerow trees 
(located to the east of the proposed new link road), 6 individual trees (located 
between the altered alignment of Main Street (B4082) and the new link road), and 
130 square metres of native shrub mix (located to the west of Main Street (B4082)). 
The proposed tree planting would include common oak, alder, field maple and wild 
cherry.

104. The County Landscape Officer has been consulted and has raised no objections 
to the proposal, subject to the imposition of a condition requiring a schedule of 
landscape maintenance. The County Landscape Officer states that overall he has no 
major concerns, with the proposal, given that it is within the context of an existing 
highway junction and constitutes a remodelling of existing infrastructure that is 
relatively contained and, therefore, would not impose a significant change to the 
existing landscape setting.

105. In view of the above matters, the Development Manager considers that subject 
to the imposition of an appropriate condition as recommended by the County 
Landscape Officer, the proposal would not have an unaccepted adverse or 
detrimental impact upon the character and appearance of the local area and would 
have an acceptable impact in terms of air quality and noise impacts on residential 
amenity. 

Water Environment
106. The proposed development is within the Flood Zone 1 (low probability of 
flooding), as identified on the Environment Agency's Indicative Flood Risk Map. The 
Government's Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) identifies that all uses of land are 
appropriate within this zone. As the application site measures approximately 1.7 
hectares in area, a Flood Risk Assessment is required to accompany the application, 
in accordance with Paragraph 163 and Footnote 50 of the NPPF.

107. The submitted Flood Risk Assessment states the Environment Agency's 
Surface Water Flood Map shows that there is high likelihood of surface water flooding 
along Main Street (B4082) by the junction, and to the west of the junction, along an 
existing ditch that is collecting runoff from the agricultural land north of the A44. This 
is a 1 in 30 or greater annual probability of surface water flooding. The remainder of 
the site either has a low (1 in 100 to 1 in 1,000 probability) or very low (1 in 1,000 or 
lower probability) likelihood of surface water flooding, with some small areas of 
medium likelihood around the eastbound lane of the A44, and along the ditch.

108. The Assessment considers that this is likely to be caused by poor maintenance 
of the above drainage features and this is further supported by information provided 
by the District Council, requesting riparian owners on the downstream watercourses 
to properly maintain the drainage ditches south of the A44

109. The Assessment goes on to state that the area of the proposed works is an 
existing highway. The proposed widening would result in an increase in impermeable 
area, thereby increasing rates of runoff. Therefore, the applicant is proposing surface 
water attenuation in the form of geo‐cellular storage units (to be located along the 
northern boundary of Allen's Hill (A44) and some additional attenuation within a 

Page 56



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

landscape swale (located between the altered Main Street (B4084 and the proposed 
new link road).

110. Severn Trent Water Limited has been consulted and has raised no objections to 
the proposal. South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership has made no 
comments and the Lead Local Flood Authority has no objections to the proposal, 
subject to the imposition of conditions requiring a detailed drainage strategy and 
SuDS management plan.

111. The Development Manager considers that there would be no adverse effects on 
the water environment, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions as 
recommended by the Lead Local Flood Authority. 

Ecology and Biodiversity
112. Section 15 of the NPPF, paragraph 170 states that "planning policies and 
decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment", by a 
number of measures including "protecting and enhancing…sites of biodiversity…(in a 
manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the 
development plan); minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, 
including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to 
current and future pressures".

113. Paragraph 175 of the NPPF states that when determining planning applications, 
local planning authorities should apply four principles (a. to d.), this includes: "if 
significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 
(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately 
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be 
refused"; and "development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance 
biodiversity should be supported; while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity 
improvements in and around developments should be encouraged, especially where 
this can secure measurable net gains for biodiversity".  

114. There are no statutory wildlife designated sites within 2 kilometres of the 
application site, however, there are a number of non-statuary wildlife designated sites 
within 1 kilometre of the site and includes the Bow, Shell, Swan and Seeley Brooks 
LWS, which is located approximately 360 metres south-west of the proposal. The 
Pinvin Rough LWS is situated about 950 metres north-west of the proposed scheme. 

115. The application was accompanied by an Ecological Assessment recommends a 
number of mitigation and compensation measures which includes adhering to the 
Environment Agency's Pollution Prevention Guidelines in order to avoid impacts to 
water, protection of retained habitat and trees, compensation planting, timing of 
vegetation clearance, pre-construction badger survey, installation of bird (x2) and bat 
(x1) boxes, and installation of a hedgehog house. 

116. The Assessment concludes that if all of the recommended mitigation measures 
are implemented correctly, there would be a net loss of amenity grassland, hedgerow 
and scrub, and a net gain of trees and semi-improved grassland, with an overall loss 
in terms of total area of habitat. The majority of habitat lost would be amenity 
grassland, which currently has low species diversity and is regularly short mown. It is, 
therefore, of very little value for wildlife. The replacement habitats would have higher 
species diversity than those lost, and there will be an increase in the number of trees 

Page 57



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

and total area of semi-improved grassland. Additionally, enhancements such and bird 
boxes and a hedgehog house would help to compensate for the overall loss of scrub.

117. The Assessment also states that impacts on designated sites, adjacent habitats 
and protected species would be avoided, mitigated or compensated for. 

118. Worcestershire Wildlife Trust has been consulted due to the proximity of the 
application site to LWSs and has no objections deferring to the opinion of the County 
Ecologist. The County Ecologist has no objections, subject to the imposition of 
appropriate conditions reflecting the recommendations of the submitted Ecological 
Assessment and requests additional information regarding the proposed lighting 
scheme. 

119. In view of the above, the Development Manager considers that subject to the 
imposition of appropriate conditions that the proposed development would have no 
adverse impacts on the ecology and biodiversity at the site or in the surrounding area. 

Other Matters
Contaminated Land
120. The application was accompanied by a contaminated land assessment, which 
was made up of a Preliminary Sources Study Report and Design Philosophy 
Statement. This identified coal tars from historical road surfaces as contamination 
potentially providing the greatest risk, but concluded that overall, the likelihood of 
significant contamination was low.

121. Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Contaminated Land Officer) has been 
consulted and raised no objections to the proposal, subject to the imposition of 
conditions requiring an investigation, risk assessment and remediation scheme being 
undertaken in the event of contamination being discovered that was not previously 
identified; and results of contamination testing of any soils brought onto the site.

122. In view of this, the Development Manager is satisfied that the proposal is 
acceptable in terms of its impact upon contaminated land, subject to the imposition of 
appropriate conditions as recommended by Worcestershire Regulatory Services. 

Utilities 
123. A Utilities Assessment accompanied the planning application submission and 
confirms that there would be various diversions required of statutory undertaker 
apparatus at Pinvin Crossroads, and most of the diversions would be minor relocation 
of utilities into the proposed footways and verges. However, there is a significant 
diversion required at Pinvin Crossroads for the relocation of BT Openreach cabling, 
cabinets and inspection chambers. The applicant has confirmed that ongoing 
discussions are taking place with the affected statutory undertakers as the scheme 
progresses. 

124. BT Openreach has been consulted but has made no comments. Severn Trent 
Water Limited, Wales and West Utilities and Western Power Distribution have raised 
no objections to the proposal.

Historic Environment 
125. The nearest Listed Building to the proposed development is Moat House Pinvin 
Manor, a Grade II Listed Building located about 390 metres north-east of the scheme. 

Page 58



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Five further Listed Building (Grade II and Grade II*) are located beyond. The District 
and County Archaeologists have been consulted and both have raised no objections 
to the proposal.

126. In view of this, it is considered that due to the distance from the proposal from 
these heritage assets, intervening buildings and established vegetation that the 
proposal would not have an adverse impact upon the historic environment.  

Conclusion

127. Worcestershire County Council is seeking to undertake highway infrastructure 
improvements at Pinvin Junction, near Pershore, Worcestershire. The proposed 
scheme seeks to improve the traffic flow at the junction and comprise junction 
widening and signal alterations to the existing signal controlled Pinvin Crossroads 
junction. The scheme design would complement the proposed Pershore Northern 
Link Road by prioritising the flow of traffic along A44 and thus reducing the green 
signal time on Terrace Road (A4014). 

128. The proposed development gains policy support from Policy SWDP 47 of the 
South Worcestershire Development Plan. The Reasoned Justification for this policy 
states that "in directing development to the north of the town it is important that 
infrastructure improvements are secured. These include improvements to the Pinvin 
crossroads junction…". 

129. The proposed scheme allows Pinvin junction to operate within capacity. The 
modelling result for 2019 peak periods indicate vehicle hours with the proposed 
scheme would reduce in both peaks. Vehicle kilometres would also decrease slightly 
in both peak periods, and average speed increases by 20.3% in the AM peak and 
6.7% in the PM peak. Delays at the junction decrease significantly by 64% in the AM 
peak and by 62% in the PM peak. The County Highways Officer has been consulted 
and raises no objections to the proposal. In view of this, the Development Manager 
considers that the proposal would result in immediate capacity improvements to the 
Pinvin junction and is satisfied that the proposal would not have an unacceptable 
impact upon traffic, highway safety or Public Rights of Way. 

130. The application was accompanied by a Noise Assessment that assessed the 
change in noise levels at 37 Spion Kop, which is was identified by the Assessment as 
the one most likely to experience a change in noise levels. The Assessment 
concludes that there is predicted to be an increase in noise of about 0.4 dB(A), which 
would be a magnitude of negligible and would not be a significant effect. 

131. The proposed scheme would require the removal of 4 trees, 3 hedgerow trees 
and approximately 80 linear metres of native hedgerow. To compensate for the loss, 
the applicant tis proposing to plant a new section of species rich hedgerow, which 
would measure approximately 70 linear metres, new areas of native tree and scrub 
planting, the planting of 11 hedgerow trees, 6 individual trees, and 130 square metres 
of native shrub mix. 

132. Based on the advice of Worcestershire Regulatory Services and the County 
Landscape Officer, the Development Manager considers that subject to the imposition 
of appropriate conditions, the proposal would not have an unaccepted adverse or 

Page 59



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

detrimental impact upon the character and appearance of the local area and would 
have an acceptable impact in terms of air quality and noise impacts on residential 
amenity. 

133. The applicant is proposing surface water attenuation in the form of geo‐cellular 
storage units and some additional attenuation within a landscape swale. The 
Development Manager considers that subject to the imposition of appropriate 
conditions, there would be no adverse effects on the water environment.

134. Based on the advice of Worcestershire Wildlife Trust and the County Ecologist, the 
Development Manager considers that subject to the imposition of appropriate 
conditions that reflect the recommendations of the submitted Ecological Assessment 
that the proposed development would have no adverse impacts on the ecology and 
biodiversity at the site or in the surrounding area. 

135. Taking into account the provisions of the Development Plan and in particular 
Policies SWDP 1, SWDP 2, SWDP 4, SWDP 6, SWDP 7, SWDP 21, SWDP 22, 
SWDP 24, SWDP 25, SWDP 28, SWDP 29, SWDP 30, SWDP 31, and SWDP 47 of 
the adopted South Worcestershire Development Pan, it is considered the proposal 
would not cause demonstrable harm to the interests intended to be protected by 
these policies or highway safety.

Recommendation

136. The Development Manager recommends that planning permission be 
granted for proposed Pinvin Junction highway improvements at Pinvin 
Junction (Junction between A44, A4104 and B4082), Pinvin, near Pershore, 
Worcestershire, subject to the following conditions: 

Commencement 
a) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission;

Approved Drawings
b) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the details shown on submitted Drawings Numbered: HGN-01-DR-C-0042, 
Rev P01; HGN-01-DR-C-0043, Rev P02; HGN-01-DR-C-0044, Rev P02; HGN-
01-DR-C-0045, Rev P01; HGN-01-DR-C-0046, Rev P01; HGN-01-DR-C-0047, 
Rev P01; HGN-01-DR-C-0048, Rev P02; HGN-01-DR-C-0054, Rev P02; EGN-
01-DR-EN-0006, Rev P01; EGN-01-DR-EN-0007, Rev P01; EGN-01-DR-EN-
0008, Rev P01; and EGN-01-DR-EN-0009, Rev P01, except where otherwise 
stipulated by conditions attached to this permission;

Construction Hours
c) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, details of 

the construction hours shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the 
County Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved scheme;

Biodiversity 

Page 60



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

d) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for Biodiversity 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 
Authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include:

i. identification of 'biodiversity protection zones';
ii. practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 

practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be 
provided as a set of method statements);

iii. the location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to 
biodiversity features;

iv. the times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be 
on site to oversee works;

v. responsible persons and lines of communication;
vi. the role and responsibilities on site of an Ecological Clerk of Works 

(ECoW) or similarly competent person; and
vii. use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

Thereafter, the approved CEMP shall be implemented during the 
construction of the development;

e) Notwithstanding the submitted details, within 3 months of commencement 
of the development hereby approved, method statements detailing creation 
of semi-natural habitats, and tree, hedgerow and scrub planting and 
establishment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County 
Planning Authority. The method statements shall include: 

i. purpose and objectives for the proposed works;
ii. detailed designs and working methods necessary to achieve the 

stated objectives;
iii. extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale 

maps;
iv. timetable for implementation;
v. persons responsible for implementing the works; and

vi. initial aftercare and long-term maintenance.

Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and implemented within the first available planting season 
(the period between 31 October in any one year and 31 March in the 
following year) on completion of the development. Any new trees or 
shrubs, which within a period of five years from the completion of the 
planting die, are removed, or become damaged or diseased, shall be 
replaced on an annual basis, in the next planting season with others of a 
similar size and species;

f) Where it is intended to create semi-natural habitats, all species used in the 
planting proposals for grassland, scrub, hedgerow and trees shall be 
locally native species of local provenance;

Page 61



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Contamination 
g) In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

development hereby approved that was not previously identified, it must be 
reported in writing immediately to the County Planning Authority. An 
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11' and where remediation is 
necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority in advance of the scheme 
commencing. Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is 
subject to the approval in writing of the County Planning Authority prior to 
development commencing other than that required to be carried out as part 
of an approved scheme of remediation; 

h) Should any soils or soil forming materials be brought on to the site for use 
in soft landscaping, filling or level raising, details must be submitted to the 
County Planning Authority for approval in writing prior to the import of 
soils or soil formal materials on to the site. Details shall include details of 
the donor site, proposals for contamination testing including testing 
schedules, sampling frequencies and allowable contaminant 
concentrations (as determined by appropriate risk assessment). Where the 
donor site is unknown or is brownfield the material must be tested for 
contamination and suitability for use on site. The approved testing must be 
carried out and validatory evidence (such as laboratory certificates) 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority 
prior to any soil or soil forming materials being brought on to the site;

Drainage
i) Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development shall commence 

until detailed design drawings for surface water drainage have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details; and

j) No works in connection with site drainage shall commence until a 
Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) management plan which shall include 
details on future management responsibilities, along with maintenance 
schedules for all SuDS features and associated pipework has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. 
This plan shall detail the strategy that will be followed to facilitate the 
optimal functionality and performance of the SuDS scheme throughout its 
lifetime. The approved SuDS management plan shall be implemented in full 
in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions and the SuDS scheme 
shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
maintenance plan thereafter.

Contact Points

County Council Contact Points
County Council: 01905 763763

Page 62



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 26 March 2019

Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765

Specific Contact Points for this report
Case Officer: Steven Aldridge, Principal Planner:
Tel: 01905 843510
Email: saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk

Mark Bishop, Development Control Manager:
Tel: 01905 844463
Email: mabishop@worcestershire.gov.uk

Background Papers

In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Development Manager) the following 
are the background papers relating to the subject matter of this report:

The application, plans and consultation replies in file reference 18/000060/REG3.

Page 63

mailto:saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mabishop@worcestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



0 20 100 200 metres© Crown copyright and
 database rights 2019

 Ordnance Survey 100024230.

Date Printed:28/2/2019

Indicative Scale: 1:5,000

 Proposed Pinvin Junction highway improvements at
Pinvin Junction (Junction between A44, A4104 and
B4082), Pinvin, near Pershore, Worcestershire

 Ref: 18/000060/REG3

  

 Worcestershire County Council
 County Hall

 Spetchley Road
 Worcester

 WR5 2NP

 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Allan's Hill

A

 

4

4

Pond

The Highlands

Orchard

M

A

I

N

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

CE Primary School

Rosslyn

Lodge

Woodpecker

H

a
y
r
i
c
k
 
C

o
t
t
a
g
e

Gapree

B

r

y

h

e

r

C

l

a

v

e

r

l

e

y

TCB

C

a

p

e

n

-

V

i

e

w

1

C

a

p

e

n

h

u

r
s
t

P

e
n
d
a
s
 
F

e
n

C

a
r
a
d
w

e
l
l

Appletree

Court

30.5m

2

1

1

1

4

T

h
e
 
B

u
n
g
a
l
o
w

Veryan

4

5

2
2

24

H

o

u

s

e

N

e

w

S

P

I

O

N

 

K

O

P

1

4

 

t

o

 

2

0

1

0

1

2

7

4

1

9

3

7

6

 

t

o

 

1

2

1

2

P

E

N

D

A

S

 
M

E

A

D

O

W

H

a

l

l

Mandaley

A

r

l
e

y

 

C

o

t

t

a

g

e

E

l
 
S

u

b

 
S

t
a

Pavilion

P
a
t
h
 
(
u
m

)

Penfield

P

r

o

s

p

e

c

t

 

C

o

t

t

a

g

e

s

T

e

r

r

a

c

e

F

o

u

r

G

a

b

l

e

s

Issues

R

a

i
l
w

a

y

 

T

e

r

r

a

c

e

P

e

r

s

h

o

r

e

5

8

1

2

P

O

Cleveland

T

h

e

 

B

u

n

g

a

l
o

w

House

House

Melrose

1

1

3

2

1

Conifers

Prospect

Ravenhurst

Daisy House

Allotment Gardens

A

B

B

E

Y

 

V

I

E

W

 

R

O

A

D

1

El Sub Sta

Orchard Cottage

33.5m

T

E

R

R

A

C

E

 

R

O

A

D

Garage

Works

T

r

a

c

k

A

b

b

e

y

 

V

i

e

w

8

Shadan House

Mullion

Tank

1

.

2

2

m

 

R

H

MP 112.75

C

o

 

C

o

n

s

t

 

&

 

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

PIN09

PIN08

PIN06

PIN01

P6A

PIN02

P02A

P9A

PIN01

PIN01A

PIN01B

PIN02

PIN03

PIN04

PIN05

PIN06

PIN07

PIN08

PIN09

PIN

10A

B

4

0

8

2

M

A

I

N

S

T

R

E

E

T

A

4

1

0

4

T

E

R

R

A

C

E

R

O

A

D

A

4

4

A

4

4

A

L

L

E

N

S

H

I

L

L

F
P

5
1
5
(
C

)

F

P

5

2

9

(
C

)

F

P

5

2

8

(
B

)

TIE-IN TO EXISTING A44 CARRIAGEWAY

NEW 2m WIDE FOOTWAY LINK TO

PROPOSED UNCONTROLLED CROSSING

FOOTWAY TO TIE-IN WITH EXISTING

PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY FOOTPATH

UNCONTROLLED PEDESTRIAN CROSSING

1m WIDE VERGE

2m WIDE FOOTWAY

CARRIAGEWAY WIDENING ON THE

NORTHERN SIDE OF THE A44

EXISTING FOOTWAY TO BE

WIDENED TO 2m

EXISTING TREE TO BE

REMOVED TO IMPROVE

VISIBILITY AT THE

CROSSROADS

B4082 MAIN STREET

REALIGNED TO

CREATE

CROSSROADS

EXISTING HEDGEROW

TO BE TRIMMED TO

PROVIDE VISIBILITY TO

THE NEW PEDESTRIAN

CROSSING

SIGNAL CONTROLLED

CROSSING

EXISTING FOOTWAY

LINK TO CUL-DE-SAC TO

BE WIDENED TO 2m

2m WIDE FOOTWAY

1m WIDE VERGE

UNCONTROLLED

PEDESTRIAN CROSSING

2m WIDE FOOTWAY LINK TO PROPOSED

UNCONTROLLED CROSSING

1m WIDE VERGE

UNCONTROLLED

PEDESTRIAN CROSSING

NEW FOOTWAY TO TIE-IN

TO EXISTING FOOTWAY

2m WIDE FOOTWAY

1m WIDE VERGE

NEW FOOTWAY TO TIE-IN

TO EXISTING FOOTWAY

NEW FIELD ACCESS

PINVIN JUNCTION LINK ROAD WITH

CENTRAL HATCHING TO ALLOW FOR

VEHICLE SWEPT PATHS

HATCHING TO SEPARATE

THE TWO GHOST ISLANDS

NEW UNCONTROLLED

CROSSING AND FOOTWAY LINK

NEW UNCONTROLLED

PEDESTRIAN CROSSING

N

THIS MAP IS REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MATERIAL BY HALCROW, A CH2M HILL COMPANY, ON BEHALF OF

WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF HER MAJESTY'S STATIONERY OFFICE,  CROWN COPYRIGHT.

UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.

LICENCE

©

®

D

B

A

C

2 3 4 5 61

GENERAL NOTES

KEY

of

KEY PLAN

THIS MAP IS REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MATERIAL BY HALCROW, A CH2M HILL COMPANY, ON BEHALF OF

WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF HER MAJESTY'S STATIONERY OFFICE,  CROWN COPYRIGHT.

UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.

LICENCE

©

®

WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

100015914

W
O

R
C

E
S

T
E

R
S

H
I
R

E
 
C

O
U

N
T

Y
 
C

O
U

N
C

I
L

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 
H

A
L

L
,
 
S

P
E

T
C

H
L

E
Y

 
R

O
A

D

W
O

R
C

E
S

T
E

R
 
W

R
5

 
2

N
P

473946.SM-HGN-01-DR-C-0054.dwgFILENAME: PLOT DATE: PLOT TIME:22-11-18  11:18am

C
H

2
M

 
H

I
L

L
 
2

0
1

3
.
 
 
A

L
L

 
R

I
G

H
T

S
 
R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

C
H

2
M

 
H

I
L

L
 
A

N
D

 
I
S

 
N

O
T

 
T

O
 
B

E
 
U

S
E

D
,
 
I
N

 
W

H
O

L
E

 
O

R
 
I
N

 
P

A
R

T
,
 
F

O
R

 
A

N
Y

 
O

T
H

E
R

 
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 
W

I
T

H
O

U
T

 
T

H
E

 
W

R
I
T

T
E

N
 
A

U
T

H
O

R
I
Z

A
T

I
O

N
 
O

F
 
C

H
2

M
 
H

I
L

L
.

R
E

U
S

E
 
O

F
 
D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
S

:
T

H
I
S

 
D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
,
 
A

N
D

 
T

H
E

 
I
D

E
A

S
 
A

N
D

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
S

 
I
N

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
D

 
H

E
R

E
I
N

,
 
A

S
 
A

N
 
I
N

S
T

R
U

M
E

N
T

 
O

F
 
P

R
O

F
E

S
S

I
O

N
A

L
 
S

E
R

V
I
C

E
,
 
I
S

 
T

H
E

 
P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 
O

F

c

D
A

T
E

D
S

G
N

D
R

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N

C
H

K

A
P

V
D

B
Y

A
P

V
D

D
R

G
 
S

T
A

T
U

S

R
E

V
S

T
A

T
U

S

D
R

G
 
R

E
V

VERIFY SCALE

PROJ

DATE

SHEET

DWG

BAR IS 25mm ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

25mm0

473946.SM

HGN-01-DR-C-0054

P
E

R
S

H
O

R
E

 
I
N

F
R

A
S

T
R

U
C

T
U

R
E

 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

P
I
N

V
I
N

 
J
U

N
C

T
I
O

N

F
I
G

U
R

E
 
2
 
-
 
G

E
N

E
R

A
L
 
A

R
R

A
N

G
E

M
E

N
T

1:1000 @ A1

12/11/2018

1 1

L
B

E
C

E
J
R

C
B

S
2

P
0

2

P
0

2
S

2
2
2
/
1
1
/
2
0
1
8

C
H

A
N

G
E

 
T

O
 
T

H
E

 
L
O

C
A

T
I
O

N
S

 
O

F
 
P

E
D

E
S

T
R

I
A

N
 
C

R
O

S
S

I
N

G
S

E
C

E
R

1. DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE IN METRES UNLESS STATED

OTHERWISE.

3. ALL WORKS ARE TO BE CONSTRUCTED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY

COUNCIL HIGHWAYS SPECIFICATION.

4. ANY DISCREPANCIES FOUND ON THIS DRAWING ARE

TO BE REPORTED IMMEDIATELY TO THE ENGINEER

FOR CLARIFICATION AND ADVICE.

PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY

T

O

 

W

O

R

C

E

S

T

E

R

B

4

0

8

2

A

4

4

T

O

 
E

V

E

S

H

A

M

A

4

4

A

4

1

0

4

T
O

 
P

E
R

S
H

O
R

E

BUFF/RED COLOURED HIGH FRICTION

SURFACING

POST AND 4 RAIL FENCE WITH STOCKPROOF

NETTING TO HCD DRAWING H3

HIGH VISIBILITY PEDESTRIAN GUARD RAIL

WITH V2 INFILL STAGGERED BARS (OPTIMUM

SIGHT ANGLE 2.5° TO 5°)

VISIBILITY LINE

FO
R

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Planning application made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to vary condition 3 of Planning Permission Reference: 10/000032/CM (Planning Inspectorate Ref: APP/E1855/V/11/2153273) (as amended) to increase throughput of the Envirecover Energy from Waste (EFW) Facility from 200,000 to 230,000 tonnes per annum at Mercia Envirecover, Plot H600, Oak Drive, Hartlebury Trading Estate, Hartlebury, Worcestershire
	pr2019-03-26 Hartlebury - Plan1
	Slide Number 1

	pr2019-03-26 Hartlebury - Plan2
	Slide Number 1


	6 Proposed Pinvin Junction Highway Improvements at Pinvin Junction (Junction between A44, A4104 and B4082), Pinvin, near Pershore, Worcestershire
	pr2019-03-26 Pinvin Junction - Plan 1
	pr2019-03-26 Pinvin Junction - Plan 2


